
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF IOWA 

CENTRAL DIVISION 

 

 

BROOKE CHAMPAGNE &  

MARICO THOMAS, 

 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

 

LINEBARGER GOGGAN BLAIR & 

SAMPSON, LLP, 

 

Defendant. 

 

 

 

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES 

AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

 

JURY DEMAND 

 

 

 

 

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

1. Under Iowa law, people who are charged with misdemeanors are 

often required to reimburse the state for certain costs and fees associated with a 

case. See, e.g., Iowa Code § 815.9.1 The plaintiffs in this lawsuit are two low-

income Iowans who allegedly owe court debt to the State of Iowa arising from 

misdemeanor cases. This lawsuit concerns the collection of that court debt by 

Linebarger Goggan Blair & Sampson, LLP (“Linebarger”), a private debt 

collection company.  

 
1 Unless otherwise noted, Iowa Code citations herein are to the version in effect as of the date 

this complaint was filed. 
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2. Linebarger, a law firm, is the sole private company collecting court 

debt in Iowa and one of the nation’s largest collectors of debt owed to public 

entities. With at least 2,300 governmental clients nationwide, the firm collects over 

$1 billion in government debt annually. In 2015, Linebarger was the subject of an 

award-winning investigative series by CNN Money, which revealed the firm’s 

practice of threatening debtors with arrest and jail, among other things. The CNN 

Money articles are available at https://money.cnn.com/interactive/pf/debt-

collector/above-the-law-summary/.   

3. In 2010, Linebarger contracted with the Iowa Judicial Branch to 

collect outstanding court debt for the state. That contract, which was continually 

renewed on a month-to-month basis and will likely remain in effect through 

December 2020, is attached as Exhibit 1; see also Iowa Code § 602.8107(5).2 

4. Under Iowa law, a private debt collector can be paid a collection fee 

of “up to twenty-five percent of the amount of the court debt.” Iowa Code 

§ 602.8107(5)(b). Linebarger’s contract with the Iowa Judicial Branch provides 

 
2 In June 2020, the Iowa Legislature passed Senate File 457 (“SF 457”), which amended a 

number of Iowa Code provisions governing the imposition and collection of court debt. See 2020 

Ia. Legis. Serv. S.F. 457; Lee Rood, Critics Say Law Touted as Reforming Court Fines and Fees 

Will be a Civil Rights Setback, DES MOINES REG., June 25, 2020, at 

https://www.desmoinesregister.com/story/news/2020/06/25/iowa-criminal-financial-sentencing-

reform-court-fees-fines-black-lives-matter-defendant-civil-rights/3251825001/. Pursuant to SF 

457, effective January 1, 2021, all court debt that would have been assigned to Linebarger for 

collection will instead be assigned to the Department of Revenue. See 2020 Ia. Legis. Serv. S.F. 

457 at Sec. 87. It is not clear whether Linebarger will continue to collect the debt already 

assigned to it. 
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that “[e]ach month, Judicial will pay Linebarger collection fee of 25% on the 

amount of Assigned Court Debt that Judicial actually received during the prior 

month.” Exhibit 1 at 15.  

5. Linebarger’s collection fees are paid by the debtors themselves. When 

the company sends collection notices to Iowans who allegedly owe court debt, 

Linebarger adds the maximum collection fee allowed by statute—twenty-five 

percent—to each debt and instructs debtors to pay the total amount to the state 

without differentiating the underlying debt from the collection fees.  

6. Between 2012 and 2018, Linebarger collected more than $58.6 

million in court debt from Iowans pursuant to the company’s contract with the 

Judicial Branch. During the same time period, Linebarger—which employs just 

two attorneys licensed in Iowa—received nearly $12 million in collection fees.3   

7. As is true in many other states, people in Iowa who are provided with 

appointed counsel because they are too poor to afford a lawyer are often billed 

 
3 Compiled from: Iowa Judicial Branch, 2012 Accounts Receivable Report, 

https://www.legis.iowa.gov/docs/publications/DF/662172.pdf; Iowa Judicial Branch, 2013 

Accounts Receivable Report: https://www.legis.iowa.gov/docs/publications/DF/662390.pdf; 

Iowa Judicial Branch, 2014 Accounts Receivable Report, 

https://www.legis.iowa.gov/docs/publications/DF/662172.pdf; Iowa Judicial Branch, 2015 

Accounts Receivable Report, https://www.legis.iowa.gov/docs/publications/DF/711087.pdf; 

Iowa Judicial Branch, 2016 Accounts Receivable Report, 

https://www.legis.iowa.gov/docs/publications/DF/799090.pdf; Iowa Judicial Branch, 2017 

Accounts Receivable Report, https://www.legis.iowa.gov/docs/publications/DF/860848.pdf; 

Iowa Judicial Branch, 2018 Accounts Receivable Report,  

https://www.legis.iowa.gov/docs/publications/DF/969685.pdf. 
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later for their own indigent defense fees. See Iowa Code §§ 815.9(3)-(9). This is 

true not only when a person is found guilty of committing a crime but also in 

criminal cases that do not result in a conviction, as well as in certain non-criminal 

matters such as child welfare proceedings or civil contempt. As of June 30, 2017, 

appointed counsel fees accounted for almost one quarter of all outstanding court 

debt owed to the state through Iowa’s Judicial Branch—nearly $170 million. See 

Legis. Serv. Agency, Issue Review: Court Debt Collection at 4 (Jan. 3, 2018), at 

https://www.legis.iowa.gov/docs/publications/IR/916685.pdf.  

8. Before June 25, 2020, a defendant who was convicted of or pled 

guilty to a criminal charge could also be required to reimburse the state for certain 

“court costs” specified by statute, provided the court found that she had the 

reasonable ability to pay them. See Iowa Code § 602.8106(1)(d); id. § 910.2.4 

Generally speaking, court costs other than attorney fees cannot be assessed in a 

criminal case absent a conviction. State v. Dudley, 766 N.W.2d 606 (Iowa 2009). 

9. In the proceedings on their misdemeanor charges, Plaintiffs Brooke 

Champagne and Marico Thomas accepted the services of a state-appointed lawyer 

in exchange for an obligation to reimburse the state for the cost of those services. 

 
4 SF 457 modified some provisions of Iowa Code Chapter 910 relative to ability to pay 

proceedings. For example, defendants must now affirmatively raise ability to pay or risk waiving 

their right to challenge the amount of court debt imposed. See Iowa Code § 910.2A (eff. date 

June 25, 2020). But the modified provisions were not in effect at the time Plaintiffs’ cases were 

resolved and thus are not relevant here.  
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When their underlying cases were resolved, the courts ordered each of them to pay 

appointed counsel fees. The Iowa Judicial Branch assigned Plaintiffs’ alleged court 

debt to Linebarger for collection, and Plaintiffs received collection letters from 

Linebarger.  

10. Because each Plaintiff incurred an “obligation or alleged 

obligation . . . to pay money arising out of a transaction in which the . . . services 

which [we]re the subject of the transaction are primarily for personal . . . 

purposes,” rather than business purposes, the debts each Plaintiff allegedly owes 

for appointed counsel fees are “debts” under the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act 

(FDCPA). 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(5). For similar reasons, these obligations are also 

“debts” under the Iowa Debt Collection Practices Act (IDCPA). See Iowa Code 

§ 537.7101 et seq. 

11. The tactics Linebarger has used to collect the debt Plaintiffs allegedly 

owe from appointed counsel fees violate both the FDCPA and the IDCPA. 

Linebarger’s letters fail to itemize the debts or provide verification rights notices. 

They also mischaracterize the amounts owed and contain false and misleading 

statements, including threats that failure to pay may result in driver’s license 

revocation or contempt of court, which in Iowa can mean arrest and jail. The letters 

fail to make clear that a debtor cannot lawfully be jailed for failing to pay court 

debt unless a court determines the nonpayment was willful. Plaintiffs seek to 
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recover compensatory and statutory damages, attorneys’ fees and costs, and 

interest. 

12. In addition, Linebarger, acting under color of state law and in its 

official capacity, deprived Ms. Champagne of property without due process in 

violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. Under Iowa law, court debt is not enforceable unless 

a court has entered a judgment ordering the defendant to pay it. Linebarger’s 

collection letters sought to collect fees—including several hundred dollars for the 

cost of transporting Ms. Champagne to jail—that were assessed months after the 

final disposition of the case, despite the fact that no court had ever entered a 

judgment ordering her to pay the fees. Linebarger’s letters falsely stated that a 

court had entered an order against Ms. Champagne for this debt, and they 

threatened her that she could be jailed if she failed to pay it. Linebarger’s letters 

were false, deceptive, and misleading. As a result of the letters, she was coerced 

into making payments. She also suffered mental and emotional stress as a result of 

the threats made in the letter. Ms. Champagne is entitled to compensatory 

damages, costs, and attorneys’ fees, and she also seeks an order enjoining 

Linebarger from engaging in extrajudicial collection of court debt.  
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II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

13. This Court has jurisdiction over this action under the FDCPA, 15 

U.S.C. § 1692k, and 28 U.S.C. § 1331. The Court has supplemental jurisdiction 

over claims arising under state law under 28 U.S.C. § 1367.  

14. In addition, the Court has jurisdiction over the civil rights claim 

arising under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and the Fourteenth Amendment to the United 

States Constitution pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and § 1343.  

15. The Court has personal jurisdiction over Linebarger because 

Linebarger is registered to do business in Iowa and entered into a contract with the 

Iowa Judicial Branch to collect debt throughout the state, including in this district. 

16. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1) and (2) because 

Linebarger resides in this district and a substantial part of the events and omissions 

giving rise to Plaintiffs’ claims occurred in this district. 

III. PARTIES 

17.  Plaintiff Brooke Champagne resides in Des Moines, Iowa. She is a 

“consumer” as that term is defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3) and a “debtor” as 

defined in Iowa Code § 537.7102(6).  

18. Plaintiff Marico Thomas resides in Cedar Rapids, Iowa. He is a 

“consumer” as that term is defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3) and a “debtor” as 

defined in Iowa Code § 537.7102(6). 
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19. Defendant Linebarger Goggan Blair & Sampson, LLP is a law firm 

organized as a limited liability partnership under Texas law with its headquarters in 

Texas. Linebarger is registered to do business in Iowa and collects court debt 

across Iowa under its contract with the Iowa Judicial Branch, including debt arising 

from misdemeanor proceedings in Delaware, Des Moines, Humboldt, and Jasper 

Counties.  

20. Linebarger is a debt collection company that operates in Iowa and 

across the United States collecting debt allegedly owed to public sector creditors. 

The principal purpose of Linebarger’s business is the collection of government 

debt using the mails and phone calls. Linebarger regularly collects and attempts to 

collect, directly and indirectly, debt alleged to be due another. It is therefore a 

“debt collector” within the meaning of 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6) and Iowa Code 

§ 537.7102(5).  

21. Linebarger is also engaged in state action under color of law for 

purposes of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. Since 2010, Iowa law has required any county 

where the county attorney has not affirmatively elected to collect court debt to 

assign that debt to a “private collection designee” for collection. Iowa Code 

§ 602.8107(3). Under that statutory authority, Linebarger has had an exclusive 

contract with the Iowa Judicial Branch since 2010 to act as the sole private 

collection designee collecting court debt allegedly owed to the State. The 
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collection of court debt is traditionally and historically a function of the State that 

the Judicial Branch delegated to Linebarger. The State benefits from the actions of 

its delegee in that Linebarger’s business practices allow the State to save costs it 

would otherwise incur in collecting its own court debt. 

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

A. Imposition and Collection of Court Debt in Iowa 

1) Iowa law limits the court debt that may be imposed on criminal 

defendants 

22. Under Iowa law, only court debt expressly authorized by statute may 

be imposed on a defendant. Woodbury County v. Anderson, 164 N.W.2d 129, 135 

(Iowa 1969); State v. Watson, 795 N.W.2d 94, 96 (Iowa Ct. App. 2011).  

23. In addition to requiring statutory authority, court debt in Iowa is 

enforceable only if a court has entered an order or judgment requiring the 

defendant to pay the debt. See State v. Davis, 944 N.W.2d 641, 642 (Iowa 2020). 

Unless it has been reduced to a judgment, court debt may not lawfully be collected.  

24. Iowa law defines “court debt” as “all restitution, fees, and forfeited 

bail.” Iowa Code § 602.8107(1)(a).5  

 
5 Before it was amended in June 2020, Iowa Code § 602.8107(1)(a) defined “court debt” as “all 

fines, penalties, court costs, fees, forfeited bail, surcharges under chapter 911, victim restitution, 

court-appointed attorney fees or expenses of a public defender ordered pursuant to section 815.9, 

or fees charged pursuant to section 356.7 or 904.108.” Section 356.7 addresses sheriff’s fees for 

room and board at jail and other administrative costs related to jail; section 904.108 addresses 

correctional fees related to prison.  
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25. Iowa law uses the term “restitution” to refer to any court debt entered 

in connection with a criminal conviction, not just victim restitution. There are two 

categories of “restitution” under Iowa law. The first category includes victim 

restitution and restitution to the clerk of court for fines, penalties and surcharges. 

Courts may order convicted defendants to pay this kind of restitution without 

regard to ability to pay. See Iowa Code § 910.2(1); State v. Davis, 944 N.W.2d at 

644-45.  

26. The second category of restitution includes court costs and appointed 

counsel fees, as well as other types of charges. Iowa Code § 910.2(1)(c)(3). Only 

this second category of restitution is relevant in this case. In cases resolved before 

June 25, 2020, a court could order a defendant to pay this type of restitution only 

when “all such items are before the court and the court has then made a reasonable-

ability-to-pay determination.” State v. Gross, 935 N.W.2d 695, 702 (Iowa 2019); 

Iowa Code § 910.2(1)(a)(2).6 

27. Court costs may include filing or docketing fees and other expenses 

incurred by the state or county. For example, “[w]hen judgment is rendered against 

the defendant,” the clerk of court may collect court costs from the defendant to 

reimburse the county that prosecuted the criminal case. Iowa Code 

 
6 Ability to pay is handled differently in cases resolved after June 25, 2020. See n. 4 above. 
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§ 602.8106(1)(a). The court costs for a simple misdemeanor are set at sixty dollars. 

Id. at § 602.8106(1)(d).  

28. In addition to court costs, until June 25, 2020, a convicted defendant 

could be required to reimburse the sheriff for “room and board” for time spent in 

jail and/or “administrative costs relating to the arrest and booking” of the 

defendant as part of her court-ordered restitution. See Iowa Code § 356.7(1) 

(2019).7  

2) Imposition and collection of appointed counsel fees 

29. In Iowa, an accused in a misdemeanor criminal prosecution who faces 

the possibility of imprisonment under the applicable criminal statute is 

automatically entitled to appointed counsel if her income level is “at or below one 

hundred twenty-five percent of the United States poverty level as defined by the 

most recently revised poverty income guidelines published by the United States 

department of health and human services.” Iowa Code § 815.9(1)(a); see also State 

v. Young, 863 N.W.2d 249, 281 (Iowa 2015). But a person who elects to receive 

the assistance of counsel is then “required to reimburse the state for the total cost 

of legal assistance,” including “not only the expense of the public defender or an 

appointed attorney, but also transcripts, witness fees, expenses, and any other 

 
7 After June 25, 2020, the new version of Iowa Code § 356.7 requires that sheriff's fees be 

assessed and collected through separate civil actions, rather than as restitution or court debt. 
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goods or services required by law to be provided to an indigent person entitled to 

an appointed attorney.” Iowa Code § 815.9(3).  

30. A person who accepts the services of appointed counsel must typically 

complete a financial affidavit. Iowa’s Rules of Criminal Procedure provide a 

standard form for this purpose: the Financial Affidavit and Application for 

Appointment of Counsel. See Iowa R. Civ. P. 2.32-Form 1. The form, which 

defendants are required to sign, states: “I understand I may be required to repay the 

state for all or part of my attorney fees and costs, I may be required to sign a wage 

assignment, and I must report any changes in the information submitted on this 

financial affidavit. I promise under penalty of perjury that the statements I make in 

this application are true, and that I am unable to pay for an attorney to represent 

me.” Id.  

31. There are significant differences between how urban and rural 

defendants in Iowa experience appointed counsel fee debt. In urban counties, 

people needing appointed counsel are often represented by public defenders, who 

tend to charge a minimal amount for their services, and their court debt is typically 

collected by county attorneys, who do not charge fees for collection. But low-

income people living in rural counties outside the jurisdiction of Iowa’s public 

defender’s offices are represented by contract attorneys, who almost always submit 

significantly higher fee petitions than their public defender counterparts.  
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32. Because the higher costs of the contract attorneys’ services are then 

passed onto their clients, criminal defendants in rural counties are more likely to 

owe significant debt in appointed counsel fees than defendants in urban counties. 

Court debt in rural counties is also more likely to be assigned to Linebarger for 

collection rather than to county attorneys. These debtors must then pay additional 

collection fees to Linebarger. As a result, people in rural counties tend to be 

saddled with significantly higher debt—in both appointed counsel fees and 

collection fees—than similarly-situated people in urban counties. 

33. Defendants are commonly billed for appointed counsel fees regardless 

of the outcome of the case. If a criminal defendant is convicted of or pleads guilty 

to the underlying charge, the court “shall order the payment of such amounts as 

restitution, to the extent to which the person is reasonably able to pay, or order the 

performance of community service in lieu of such payments.” Iowa Code 

§ 815.9(5); see also id. § 910.2(1)(a)(2).   

34. If the defendant is acquitted, or if the charge is dismissed, she may 

still be required to reimburse the state for the cost of her appointed counsel “to the 

extent the person is reasonably able to pay, after an inquiry which includes notice 

and reasonable opportunity to be heard.” Iowa Code § 815.9(6). If the defendant 

fails to pay the debt, the court may enter a judgment, which the state can then 

enforce against the defendant “in the same manner as a civil judgment.” Id. 
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§ 815.9(7). Under Iowa law, civil judgments “requiring the payment of money . . . 

are to be enforced by execution.” Id. § 626.1. 

35. If a defendant was not convicted of the underlying charge, the state 

may not lawfully bring contempt proceedings against her for nonpayment of 

appointed counsel fees. State v. Sluyter, 763 N.W.2d 575, 582 (Iowa 2009); LaRue 

v. Burns, 268 N.W.2d 639, 641 (Iowa 1978).  

36. Generally speaking, the amount of counsel fees is rarely known at the 

time of sentencing or other disposition of a case. This is because there are several 

steps before the possible amount of appointed counsel fees becomes a sum certain. 

See generally Iowa Admin. Code (“IAC”) r. 493-12. First, the appointed counsel 

must file a claim. IAC r. 493-12.2. This is almost never done before sentencing or 

disposition, because counsel is still working and accruing fees. Next, the State 

Public Defender (SPD) may approve or deny the claim in whole or in part. Id. 

Disputes between appointed counsel and SPD may in rare circumstances be subject 

to administrative appeal and court review. IAC r. 493-12.9. Once the claim is 

actually paid, it is the longstanding practice of the SPD to send a list itemized by 

case to each county once per month, showing what was actually paid out in claims 

to appointed counsel. Clerks then input these amounts, provided there is a valid 

court order assessing the debt to the defendant and the amounts paid by the SPD 

are not limited by any ability-to-pay restrictions set out by court order. 
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3) Collection of court debt is historically and traditionally a 

government function 

37. Court debt in Iowa is “owed and payable to the clerk of the district 

court.” Iowa Code § 602.8107(2). By statute, the clerk of each court has the duty to 

collect fines, court costs, and fees and remit the money to the appropriate 

governmental entity. See id. § 602.8106. 

38. Historically, the collection of delinquent court debt in Iowa was 

exclusively and traditionally the province of the government, although the specific 

entities and agencies engaged in collection have varied over time. In 1991, with the 

passage of the Collection of Delinquent Criminal Fines and Court Costs Act, 

county attorneys were authorized to collect delinquent court debt. County attorneys 

retained 35% of what they collected, with the remainder going to the state general 

fund. H.F. 697, 74th Gen. Assemb. (Iowa 1991).  

39. In 1993, the legislature passed the OWI Fine Increase, Mandatory 

Minimum Fines, and Community Service Act, which “shifted some of the 

responsibilities for the collection of delinquent fines, fees, and penalties to the 

Clerks of District Court” and “allowed the Department of Revenue” (IDR) to 

collect delinquent court debt that was not being collected by county attorneys. S.F. 

370, 75th Gen. Assemb. (Iowa 1993). While the law “added private attorneys to the 

list of persons county attorneys could contract with for collection services,” 

governmental agencies retained primary control over collection of court debt. See 
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id. at 3–4. In 1995, authority was given to the Centralized Collection Unit (CCU) 

of IDR to issue levies against the accounts of people in debt to the state. H.F. 549, 

76th Gen. Assemb. (Iowa 1995). 

40. In 2010, in response to a judicial funding crisis during the last 

recession, the Iowa Legislature instituted an aggressive debt collection program in 

the form of new legislation. S.F. 2383, Iowa 83rd Gen. Assemb. (Iowa 2010). 

Under the new law, referral of debt to CCU after 30 days of delinquency became 

mandatory rather than discretionary. Iowa Code § 364.22B. Although not provided 

by statute or rule, CCU by fiat charged a 10% collection fee on top of the 

underlying debt. In counties where the county attorney had elected to serve as a 

court debt collector, CCU was then mandated to assign the debt to the county 

attorney after 60 days if the debtor’s account had not been placed into a payment 

plan. Also, for the first time, the new law mandated that the CCU assign delinquent 

debt in counties not served by county attorney collection to a private collection 

agency after 365 days delinquency. In December 2010, the Iowa Judicial Branch 

entered into a contract with Linebarger permitting the firm to collect 25% of the 

balance owed as a fee.  

41. After a few more legislative changes changing the order of priority for 

assigning debt to the CCU, Linebarger, and the county attorneys, the law changed 

in 2015 by removing CCU from the collection process entirely. S.F. 510, 86th Gen. 
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Assemb. (Iowa 2015). This bill also provided that Linebarger would be assigned 

debt from all 99 counties in Iowa. In counties where the county attorney had 

elected to collect court debt, Linebarger would then have to refer cases if the 

debtor had not entered a payment plan within 60 days of assignment to Linebarger. 

42. In 2016, the delinquency collection system was simplified further to 

allow for two possible options for collection once court debt becomes delinquent. 

S.F. 2316, 86th Gen. Assemb. (Iowa 2016). In counties where the county attorney 

has elected to collect court debt, debt is assigned directly to the county attorney 

after delinquency. In other counties, delinquent court debt is sent directly to the 

private collection designee, Linebarger. Iowa Code § 602.8107. That system 

essentially remained the same over the next four years.  

43. Under the 2016 law, which remains in effect today, court debt in 

roughly one third of Iowa counties—including Delaware, Des Moines, Humboldt, 

and Jasper Counties—that has not been paid within 30 days of disposition and is 

not subject to a court-ordered installment plan is deemed delinquent and assigned 

by the clerk to Linebarger to collect. See Iowa Code § 602.8107(3); Exhibit 1 at 

13.  In other counties, the debt is assigned to the county attorney for collection. See 

Iowa Code § 602.8107(2)(d). 

44. On June 25, 2020, Governor Kim Reynolds signed into law Senate 

File 457, which makes sweeping changes to the imposition and collection of court 
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debt in Iowa. Under the new law, starting January 1, 2021, court debt that would 

have been assigned to Linebarger for collection will now once again be collected 

by IDR. See 2020 Ia. Legis. Serv. S.F. 457 at Sec. 87.  

4) Linebarger’s contract with the Iowa Judicial Branch 

45. Since 2010, Iowa law has required counties to assign delinquent court 

debt for collection to a “private collection designee.” Iowa Code § 602.8107(3). 

Pursuant to that statutory authority, in 2010 Linebarger entered into an exclusive 

Court Debt Collection Contract with the Iowa Judicial Branch to act as the sole 

private collection designee collecting court debt allegedly owed to the State of 

Iowa. See Exhibit 1. This contract has been continually renewed on a month-to-

month basis and will likely remain in effect through December 2020. 

46. The contract incorporates two bidding documents: the State’s Court 

Debt Collection Services Provided by Law Firms Request for Proposal, RFP No. 

2010-10, and Linebarger’s proposal in response to that RFP. Exhibit 1 at 1. 

47. The contract expressly requires that Linebarger “comply with all 

applicable federal, state, and local laws, rules, ordinances, regulations, and orders 

when performing services under this contract.” Exhibit 1 at 9. 

48. The contract provides for the assignment of court debt to Linebarger 

for collection. See Exhibit 1 at 13-14. The contract expressly states: “If during the 

collection of an assigned debt, Linebarger is not satisfied that the debtor owes the 
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debt or if the debtor disputes the amount owed, Judicial will attempt to verify 

promptly the liability and provide that information to Linebarger. During this 

verification period, Linebarger may suspend any active collection activity on that 

account.” Id. at 14.  

49. The contract provides that the Judicial Branch will pay Linebarger a 

“collection fee of 25% on the amount of Assigned Court Debt that Judicial actually 

received during the prior month.” Exhibit 1 at 2, 15. This fee “will be added to the 

Assigned Court Debt,” meaning Linebarger adds its collection fee to the 

underlying debt it collects from debtors such as Plaintiffs. Id. at 15.  

50. The contract provides that “because Linebarger is trying to collect on 

debts owed to the State of Iowa, Judicial will waive any filing fees for collection 

activities filed in Iowa courts.” Exhibit 1 at 15.  

B. Brooke Champagne’s Experience 

51. Brooke Champagne is 45 years old. She grew up in Iowa and 

currently lives in Des Moines, where she works full time in a Hy-Vee grocery store 

deli earning about $14 an hour. In addition to working at the deli, where she is in 

charge of ordering and cutting specialty cheeses, Ms. Champagne is currently 

enrolled in the Cheese Specialist Program at Hy-Vee University and has completed 

the first of three training levels. After finishing all three levels, she will be eligible 

to take a final exam to earn her Certified Cheese Professional credential. Before 
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working at Hy-Vee, in 2015 Ms. Champagne earned her diploma for 

microcomputer applications and information technology from Indian Hills 

Community College.  

52. Ms. Champagne, who suffered from alcohol and substance abuse in 

the past, has worked hard to get her life back on track. She is in recovery and has 

been sober for more than 620 days. Since being discharged from an in-patient 

treatment program in November 2019, she has lived at a recovery house with six 

other women, where she continues to strive towards a healthy lifestyle.  

53. Ms. Champagne accrued court debt in relation to several minor 

offenses she committed in the past while under the influence of drugs and alcohol. 

Due to chronic substance abuse, time in jail, poverty, and homelessness, she was 

unable to make payments for a long period of time. During the past several 

months, however, Ms. Champagne has faithfully made regular payments to the 

state of Iowa towards the debts Linebarger is collecting, as well as other court debt.   

1) Collection of debt related to 2013 Jasper County Case 

54. On October 4, 2013, in Jasper County, Iowa, Ms. Champagne was 

walking down the street by herself when a police officer stopped her, asked for her 

information, and detained her. Although she passed a breathalyzer, she was 

arrested and charged with “simulated public intoxication,” a simple misdemeanor 

and a violation of Iowa Code § 123.46 (Case No. SMAC011891). Because she 
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could not afford an attorney, she accepted the services of court-appointed contract 

counsel Jane Odland. Exhibit 2. The Application for Appointment of Counsel form 

that Ms. Champagne signed states: “I understand I may be required to repay the 

State for my attorney fees and costs[].” Exhibit 3. 

55. On December 18, 2013, Ms. Champagne entered a guilty plea. Exhibit 

4. She was sentenced to pay a $100 fine plus an additional $155 in court costs, 

fees, and surcharges, for a total of $255. Exhibit 5.8  

56. On January 23, 2014, Ms. Champagne’s court debt was designated as 

“past due” and sent to CCU / IDR. Exhibit 2. CCU added a collection fee of $3.17. 

Exhibit 6. 

57. On January 28, 2014, an indigent defense claim form was filed in Ms. 

Champagne’s case, and a charge of $138 for appointed counsel fees was added to 

her court debt, bringing her total debt for this case to $396.17. Exhibit 6.  

58. Ms. Champagne began making payments towards this court debt in 

November 2014. By February 8, 2015, she had paid $85, with $311.17 remaining. 

Exhibit 6. On February 15, 2015, the state assigned her outstanding debt to 

Linebarger for collection. Exhibit 2. Linebarger then added a 25% collection fee of 

 
8 The Iowa Courts Online docket shows that the additional charges include $60 in court costs, a 

$40 court reporter fee, $20 sheriff’s fee, and $35 state surcharge. Exhibit 6. 
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$77.79, bringing Ms. Champagne’s debt back up to $388.96. She made a $25 

payment in March 2015, leaving $363.96. Exhibit 6.  

59. Ms. Champagne has received several collection letters from 

Linebarger related to the 2013 Jasper County debt. Most recently, on September 

16, 2019, Ms. Champagne received a letter from Linebarger with the number 

39442337. This letter states: “WARNING – OUTSTANDING COURT FEES 

AND FINES . . . .  Court records indicate that the Court has entered an order 

against you, and you have unpaid court fees and fines . . . as listed below.” Exhibit 

7 (emphasis in original). 

60. The letter does not itemize the debt or Linebarger’s collection fee, 

stating only that the “amount due” related to the 2013 Jasper County case is 

$363.96. Id.   

61. The letter further states, “You have failed to respond to our 

previous correspondence,” and instructs Ms. Champagne to “return your payment 

in the amount of $363.96 . . . immediately.” Id. (emphasis in original). The letter 

warns that “[u]ntil the Court receives full payment,” the “State and its Courts” can 

bring “enforcement actions” including “contempt of court proceedings” and 

“driver [sic] license revocation.” Id. 
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62. The letter does not include any language stating that Linebarger is 

attempting to collect a “debt” or that any information obtained will be used for that 

purpose. 

63. Ms. Champagne has paid $210 towards the 2013 Jasper County debt, 

including $100 since receiving the September 16, 2019 letter. Exhibit 6. 

2) Collection of debt related to 2015 Humboldt County case 

64. On September 4, 2015, in Humboldt County, Ms. Champagne was 

charged with disorderly conduct, a simple misdemeanor in violation of Iowa Code 

§ 664A.7(5), and violating a no-contact or protective order, a simple misdemeanor 

in violation of Iowa Code § 723.4(2) (Case No. SMCR009978). These charges 

arose from a phone call she made to her mother from jail. Because she could not 

afford an attorney, she accepted the services of court-appointed contract counsel 

Daniel Feistner. Exhibit 8. The Application for Appointment of Counsel that Ms. 

Champagne signed states: “I understand I may be required to repay the State for all 

or part of any attorney fees and costs[].” Exhibit 9. 

65. On October 6, 2015, Ms. Champagne entered a guilty plea to the 

protective order charge, and the State agreed to recommend that the court dismiss 

the disorderly conduct charge. Exhibit 10.  

66. On October 12, 2015, the Iowa District Court for Humboldt County 

entered judgment in her case. The court sentenced Ms. Champagne to serve 48 
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hours in jail within 60 days of sentencing, with credit for time served, and to one 

year of probation. The court’s sentencing order provided that Ms. Champagne 

would “NOT be fined in this case” but that she “shall pay court appointed attorney 

fees” and court costs.  Exhibit 11. The order stated that she had “waived any 

hearing on her ability to pay attorney fees in this matter.” Id. Ms. Champagne did 

not waive her right to an ability-to-pay assessment with respect to any other costs 

or fees. The Iowa Courts Online docket shows that $60 in court costs was added to 

her debt.9 Exhibit 12. 

67. On November 13, 2015, the outstanding debt Ms. Champagne owed 

to the state was assigned to Linebarger for collection. Exhibit 8. On December 15, 

2015, the SPD submitted an indigent defense claim form in the amount of $226, 

indicating this amount had been approved and paid to Ms. Champagne’s appointed 

counsel. Id. The appointed counsel fees were added to Ms. Champagne’s court 

debt, bringing the total amount she owed to $286.00.  

68. On January 25, 2016, the Humboldt County Attorney filed an 

application for mittimus to require Ms. Champagne to serve the remaining time left 

 
9 In 2019, the Iowa Supreme Court reiterated the long-standing rule that district courts may not 

order a criminal defendant to pay restitution for court costs or appointed counsel fees without 

first determining that the defendant has the means to pay those costs. State v. Albright, 925 

N.W.2d 144, 159, 161-62 (Iowa 2019). Before Albright, however, as in Ms. Champagne’s case, 

courts regularly sentenced defendants to pay costs and fees in amounts to be determined after 

sentencing and without evaluating ability to pay, in spite of statutory language to the contrary 

and decades of prior precedent. See e.g. State v. Haines, 360 N.W.2d 791 (Iowa 1985); Iowa 

Code § 910.2 (ability to pay language first codified in 1982). 
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in her 48-hour sentence. Exhibit 8. That same day, the Humboldt County District 

Court issued an Order for Mittimus directing the clerk to issue a warrant for her 

arrest. The order stated: “Once the Defendant is apprehended, the Defendant shall 

serve any time remaining on the Defendant’s mittimus, and shall pay the Humboldt 

County Jail’s room and board cost of $50.00 per day.” The order made no mention 

of any other costs. Exhibit 13.  

69. On February 23, 2016, Ms. Champagne was arrested in Burlington 

and taken to the Des Moines County Jail. The Humboldt County Sheriff then 

transported her to Humboldt County Jail, where she was held overnight and 

released the following day. The sheriff filed an Application for Room and Board 

Fees requesting reimbursement of a $50 “room and board” charge for Ms. 

Champagne’s one night in jail. Exhibit 8. On February 24, 2016, the court issued 

an order approving the sheriff’s claim for reimbursement of the $50 room and 

board charge and ordering the clerk to enter judgment against Ms. Champagne for 

that amount. Exhibit 14; see Iowa Code § 356.7(1) (2019).10   

70. The sheriff also submitted a return of service requesting payment of 

$474.70 for the cost of transporting Ms. Champagne to Humboldt County Jail. 

Exhibit 15. There is no record of the court approving this claim, and the court 

never entered a judgment against Ms. Champagne requiring her to pay the 

 
10 See ¶ 28, above.  
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transportation costs. Exhibit 8. Nonetheless, the Iowa Courts Online docket shows 

that on February 23, 2016, a fee of $474.70 was added to Ms. Champagne’s court 

debt. Id.; Exhibit 12. 

71. The docket also shows that on February 24, 2016, the Humboldt 

County Sheriff filed a Return of Mittimus, and an additional $15 fee appeared on 

the docket. Exhibit 8; Exhibit 12. As with the transportation costs, the court did not 

enter a judgment requiring Ms. Champagne to pay the fee. Id. The addition of the 

transportation and mittimus fees brought Ms. Champagne’s total alleged court debt 

for this case to $825.70, to which Linebarger added a 25% collection fee of 

$206.43.11  

72. Ms. Champagne has received numerous letters from Linebarger 

related to the 2015 Humboldt County debt. On September 16, 2019, Ms. 

Champagne received a letter from Linebarger with the number 40860109. This 

letter states: “WARNING – OUTSTANDING COURT FEES AND FINES . . . .  

Court records indicate that the Court has entered an order against you, and you 

have unpaid court fees and fines . . . as listed below.” Exhibit 16.  

73. The letter does not itemize the debt or Linebarger’s collection fee, 

stating only that the “amount due” related to the 2015 Humboldt County case is 

 
11 Linebarger’s 25% fee consists of four separate charges: $18.75 (25% of the $60 court costs 

and $15 mittimus fee), $56.50 (25% of the $226 counsel fees); $118.68 (approx. 25% of the 

$474.70 sheriff’s transport fees); and $12.50 (25% of the $50 room and board fee). Exhibit 12. 
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$1,032.13. That amount includes the $474.70 transportation fee and the $15 

mittimus fee even though Ms. Champagne does not legally owe those debts 

because the court never entered a judgment imposing those fees.  

74. The letter further states, “You have failed to respond to our 

previous correspondence,” and instructs Ms. Champagne to “return your payment 

in the amount of $1,032.13 . . . immediately.” Id. (emphasis in original). The letter 

warns that “[u]ntil the Court receives full payment,” the “State and its Courts” can 

bring “enforcement actions” including “contempt of court proceedings” and 

“driver [sic] license revocation.” Id. 

75. The letter does not include any language stating that Linebarger is 

attempting to collect a “debt” or that any information obtained will be used for that 

purpose. 

76. Ms. Champagne has paid $200 towards this 2015 Humboldt County 

debt, and some of her payments have been allocated towards the collection fee 

Linebarger added to the sheriff’s transportation fees. Exhibit 12.  

3) Collection of debt related to 2016 Des Moines County Case 

77. On January 19, 2016, in Des Moines County, Ms. Champagne was 

charged with theft in the fifth degree for allegedly taking a coffee pot and some 

light bulbs valued at $30 from her hotel room, a simple misdemeanor in violation 

of Iowa Code § 714.2(5) (Case No. SMSM038780). Because she could not afford 
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an attorney, she accepted the services of court-appointed contract attorney Shane 

Wiley.  

78. On February 19, 2016, Ms. Champagne entered a guilty plea. Exhibit 

17. She was sentenced to 30 days in jail, with all but five days suspended, and to 

one year of unsupervised probation, and ordered to pay a $65 fine, $60 in court 

costs, a Law Enforcement Initiative Surcharge of $125, plus additional surcharges 

and indigent defense fees in an amount to be assessed later. Id. The sentencing 

order did not include any finding of ability to pay. Id. The Iowa Courts Online 

docket shows that a surcharge of $22.75 was added, bringing her debt for this case 

to $272.75. Exhibit 18. 

79. On March 22, 2016, Ms. Champagne’s debt was assigned to 

Linebarger for collection. Exhibit 19. On April 1, 2016, an indigent defense claim 

form was filed in her case, and counsel fees and costs of $108.49 were added to her 

debt, bringing the total court debt for this case to $381.24. Id. Exhibit 18. 

Linebarger added a 25% collection fee of $95.31. Id.  

80. On September 16, 2019, Ms. Champagne received a letter from 

Linebarger with the number 42514743. This letter states: “WARNING – 

OUTSTANDING COURT FEES AND FINES . . . .  Court records indicate that 

the Court has entered an order against you, and you have unpaid court fees and 

fines . . . as listed below.” Exhibit 20 (emphasis in original). 
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81. The letter does not itemize the debt or Linebarger’s collection fee, 

stating only that the “amount due” related to the 2016 Des Moines County theft 

case is $476.55. Id. 

82. The letter further states, “You have failed to respond to our 

previous correspondence,” and instructs Ms. Champagne to “return your payment 

in the amount of $476.55 . . . immediately.” Id. (emphasis in original). The letter 

warns that “[u]ntil the Court receives full payment,” the “State and its Courts” can 

bring “enforcement actions” including “contempt of court proceedings” and 

“driver [sic] license revocation.” Id. 

83. The letter does not include language stating that Linebarger is 

attempting to collect a “debt” or that any information obtained will be used for that 

purpose. Id. 

84. Ms. Champagne has paid $150 towards this debt since receiving the 

September 2019 letter, and she and continues to make regular payments. Exhibit 

18. 

4) Ms. Champagne’s finances and fear of Linebarger’s threats 

85. When Ms. Champagne received the debt collection letters from 

Linebarger, she was anxious and fearful. Having a law firm coming after her for 

these debts was scary and overwhelming. Because she could not afford to pay the 

debt, she feared that she would be held in contempt of court and jailed. In addition, 
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if her driver’s license were revoked, as Linebarger threatened could happen if she 

was unable to pay, Ms. Champagne would have to take the bus across town to 

work, which would require her to change her work schedule and threaten her 

livelihood.  

86. Now that she is employed and has been sober for well over a year, 

Ms. Champagne has been making monthly payments to the state of Iowa towards 

her court debt over the past several months, including towards debts Linebarger is 

collecting. Because she can’t afford to make a payment toward every fine every 

month, Ms. Champagne pays $50 towards one or two each month on a rotating 

basis. She also makes payments towards other court debt Linebarger is not 

collecting, for a total of about $200 each month. Ms. Champagne considers 

acknowledging responsibility for her debt—and working hard to pay it off—an 

important part of her program of recovery. In addition to these payments, Ms. 

Champagne pays rent and bills for her student loans, car loan, and car insurance.  

C. Marico Thomas’s Experience 

87. Marico Thomas is 36 years old. He has lived in Iowa since 2002 and 

currently lives in Cedar Rapids with his wife and four children.  

88. Since approximately March 2020, Mr. Thomas has worked full-time 

as a CNC machine operator at the Paladin Attachments facility in Delhi, where 
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attachment tools are manufactured. Before getting that job, Mr. Thomas worked as 

a temporary laborer with Ace Concrete Cutting.  

1) Mr. Thomas’s 2016 Delaware County case  

89. On August 4, 2016, in Delaware County, Iowa, Mr. Thomas got into a 

fist fight with a man at a nightclub after the man verbally harassed him and shoved 

him. Mr. Thomas was charged with “assault causing bodily injury or mental 

illness,” a serious misdemeanor (Iowa Code § 708.2(2)) (Case No. SRCR011435). 

He was also charged with three simple misdemeanors (Case No. SMCR011436): 

• Count 1: disorderly conduct (Iowa Code § 723.4(1)); 

• Count 2: criminal mischief fifth degree (Iowa Code § 716.6(2)); 

• Count 3: assault with no aggravating factors such as bodily injury 

or the intent to cause injury (Iowa Code § 708.2(6)).   

90. Because Mr. Thomas could not afford an attorney, he accepted the 

services of court-appointed contract attorney Daniel Swift. The Application for 

Appointment of Counsel that Mr. Thomas signed states: “I understand I may be 

required to repay the State for all or part of any attorney fees and costs[].” Exhibit 

21. 

91. On February 1, 2017, Mr. Thomas pled guilty to the disorderly 

conduct charge, Count 1 of Case No. SMCR011436, and the District Court for 

Delaware County dismissed the two remaining counts in Case No. SMCR011436. 

Exhibit 22; Exhibit 23; Exhibit 24. 
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92. The court also dismissed Case No. SRCR011435, the serious 

misdemeanor assault charge, but ruled that Mr. Thomas must pay court costs and 

appointed counsel fees. Exhibit 25; Exhibit 26. The court expressly ordered that 

Mr. Thomas’ appointed counsel fees for Case No. SRCR011435 were not to 

exceed $600. Exhibit 27; Exhibit 26 (ordering Mr. Thomas to pay “court-appointed 

attorney fees in the amount of $600 or the amount actually submitted by the State 

Public Defender’s office, whichever is less”).12 The docket indicates that the clerk 

assessed Mr. Thomas a $600 charge for counsel fees. Exhibit 27.  

93. Sometime after the disposition of the case, the SPD submitted a list of 

paid attorney fee claims to the Delaware County clerk. Exhibit 28. This list shows 

that the SPD paid counsel in this case $708 for hourly fees, and $27.18 in 

expenses.     

94. At some point—despite the court’s order that Mr. Thomas’s indigent 

defense fees for Case No. SRCR011435 were “not to exceed $600”—additional 

charges were assessed in the amounts of $27.18 and $84.00, bringing Mr. 

Thomas’s total debt for appointed counsel fees to $711.18 and his total court debt 

 
12 Mr. Thomas does not recall the court inquiring into his ability to pay $600 in appointed 

counsel fees.   
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for the case to $811.18.13 Exhibit 29. This amount matched neither the SPD total of 

$735.18 nor the court’s limit of $600.  

95. On April 4, 2017, Mr. Thomas’s debt was assigned to Linebarger for 

collection. Linebarger added a 25% fee of $202.80 to the underlying debt, bringing 

the total amount allegedly owed to $1,013.98.14 

2) Linebarger’s collection of Mr. Thomas’s debt 

96. Mr. Thomas first began receiving letters and phone calls from 

Linebarger related to the 2016 Delaware County debt in April 2017. He was 

surprised. He did not understand why Linebarger was insisting that he owed so 

much money—at that time, over $1,300 for three cases including this one. He was 

unemployed at the time, and he already owed a significant amount of child support 

each month.  

97. Mr. Thomas contacted the lawyer who had represented him in his 

2016 criminal case to ask about the debt. The lawyer explained that Mr. Thomas 

was required to reimburse the state for the lawyer’s services. That was the first 

time Mr. Thomas understood that he was responsible for paying for the lawyer 

who had been appointed for him because he could not afford one.  

 
13 On May 28, 2020, after Mr. Thomas’s counsel inquired about the additional $111.18 in 

appointed counsel fees and costs, a clerk for the Delaware District Court removed the charges 

from Mr. Thomas’s court debt, leaving him with $902.80 in alleged court debt.  

14 This fee was added in two separate charges: $46 (25% of $184) and $156.80 (25% of 

$627.20). Exhibit 29. 
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98. Mr. Thomas also called the Delaware County District Court clerk’s 

office. He explained that he was unemployed and could not afford to pay the debt. 

The clerk responded that there was nothing the court could do because the debt had 

been sent to Linebarger and it was out of the court’s hands. The clerk gave him an 

email address for Linebarger. 

99. Mr. Thomas sent an email to Linebarger. In the email, which is 

attached as Exhibit 30, he explained that he had received “a letter stating that I owe 

collection from a case that I’ve beat because of court cost”; that the letter stated he 

owed “over 1300 dollars”; and that he was unemployed and that there was “no way 

I can just cough up that kind of money.” Mr. Thomas also wrote that he “was 

provided a public attorney because I couldn’t afford one and still I was never 

warned that I’ll be asking [sic] to pay over 1300 dollars.” Exhibit 30. Finally, he 

wrote that he wanted to contest the charges “because the letter states that my driver 

license could be in jeopardy and again I’m unemployed with 4 kids I need my 

drivers license to seek employment to provide for my family.” Id. Linebarger did 

not respond to the email.  

100. Linebarger’s letters became increasingly threatening over time. For 

example, on October 11, 2019, Mr. Thomas received a letter from Linebarger with 

the number 44018405. This letter states: “WARNING – OUTSTANDING COURT 

FEES AND FINES . . . . Court records indicate that the Court has entered an order 
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against you, and you have unpaid court fees and fines . . . as listed below.” Exhibit 

31 (emphasis in original). 

101. The letter further states, “You have failed to respond to our 

previous correspondence,” and instructs Mr. Thomas to “return your payment in 

the amount of $1,013.98 . . . immediately.” Id. (emphasis in original). The letter 

warns that “[u]ntil the Court receives full payment,” the “State and its Courts” can 

bring “enforcement actions” including “contempt of court proceedings” and 

“driver [sic] license revocation.” Id.  

102. The letter does not itemize the debt or Linebarger’s collection fees, 

stating only that the amount due related to the 2016 assault case (No. 

SRCR011435) is $1,013.98.15  

103. The letter does not include language stating that Linebarger is 

attempting to collect a “debt” or that any information obtained will be used for that 

purpose. 

104. When Mr. Thomas began receiving Linebarger’s collection letters, he 

was afraid of what might happen to him because he couldn’t pay. He was 

particularly concerned his driver’s license could be taken away, because he relied 

 
15 The letter also seeks to collect $287.50 in court debt related to Case No. SMCR011436 and 

$562.50 related to a 2018 assault case (Case No. SMCR012480). 
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on his car to transport his children and to look for work. Linebarger’s threats 

alarmed, confused, and distressed Mr. Thomas. 

105. Although Mr. Thomas now has full-time employment, he needs all the 

money he makes at his job to cover rent, child support, and life necessities. He has 

not been able to afford to make any payments towards the debt Linebarger is 

collecting, despite being fearful that the enforcement actions Linebarger threatened 

in its letters would be taken against him. 

V. CAUSES OF ACTION 

CLAIM FOR RELIEF FOR VIOLATION OF 

DUE PROCESS CLAUSE 
 

COUNT 1:  

Deprivation of Property without Due Process of Law in Violation of the 

Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution (42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

(on behalf of Brooke Champagne) 
 

106. Court debt is enforceable in Iowa only if a court has entered an order 

or judgment requiring the defendant to pay the debt—and, until June 25, 2020, 

only after determining that the defendant has the ability to pay that debt. See Iowa 

Code § 910.2(1)(a)(2); State v. Gross, 935 N.W.2d 695, 702 (Iowa 2019). Unless it 

has been reduced to a judgment, court debt may not lawfully be collected. State v. 

Davis, 944 N.W.2d at 642. 

107. Linebarger, acting under color of law, in its official capacity, and 

pursuant to statutory authority and its exclusive contract with the Iowa Judicial 
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Branch, deprived Brooke Champagne of her interest in constitutionally-protected 

property without due process of law when it collected money from her that had not 

been ordered by a court as required by Iowa law.  

108. In Case No. SMCR009978, on October 6, 2015, the Humboldt County 

District Court sentenced Ms. Champagne to pay court costs and court-appointed 

attorney fees. After that debt was assigned to Linebarger, in February 2016, a 

sheriff’s transportation fee of $474.70 and a mittimus fee of $15 were added to her 

court debt. But the court never entered any judgment assessing those fees against 

Ms. Champagne and ordering her to pay them. See ¶¶ 64–70, above.  

109. Had the court entered a judgment against Ms. Champagne for the fees, 

she could have availed herself of the normal legal process by which a criminal 

defendant may challenge or appeal a court judgment. See, e.g., State v. Olsen, 794 

N.W.2d 285 (Iowa 2011). But without a court order, there is no process for a 

defendant to challenge the imposition of costs or fees.16 

 
16 Under Iowa law in effect at the time, the Humboldt County District Court was also required to 

determine that Ms. Champagne had the ability to pay the newly added fees before ordering her to 

pay them. See Iowa Code § 910.2 (2019). Had the court held an ability-to-pay hearing, Ms. 

Champagne would have had notice of the transportation fees and the opportunity to be heard on 

them. She then could have demonstrated that she lacked the means to pay the fees. But no such 

proceeding took place. Furthermore, there does not even appear to be a statutory basis for 

ordering a defendant to reimburse the state for transportation fees as part of a criminal restitution 

order in Iowa. See ¶ 22, above. Had the court entered an order, as was required by law, Ms. 

Champagne could have challenged the imposition of the fees on both of these grounds.  
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110. Because no court ever entered a judgment ordering Ms. Champagne to 

pay the sheriff’s transportation and mittimus fees, under Iowa law, Linebarger has 

no authority to collect the debt.  

111. Linebarger is a law firm. Its debt collection work is performed by two 

attorneys who are members of the Iowa State Bar who have access to the complete 

court files and the Iowa Courts Online dockets of the individuals whose debt it 

collects. By checking Ms. Champagne’s file or docket, a Linebarger attorney could 

have determined with little effort that the sheriff’s transportation and mittimus fees 

were added to Ms. Champagne’s debt after her case was resolved, without any 

subsequent judgment by the court.  

112. Linebarger’s contract with the Iowa Judicial Branch expressly 

provides that if “Linebarger is not satisfied that [a] debtor owes the debt,” the 

company can request that the Judicial Branch “verify promptly the liability” and 

“suspend any active collection activity” on the debtor’s account until it can 

determine whether the relevant debt is legally owed and enforceable. Exhibit 1 at 

14.  

113. Linebarger did not check Ms. Champagne’s case docket. It did not 

request that the Judicial Branch verify whether the debt was legally owed. And it 

did not suspend collection on the extrajudicial debt. Instead, Linebarger added 

collection fees based on the two extrajudicial charges. It then sent Ms. Champagne 

Case 4:20-cv-00275-SMR-SBJ   Document 1   Filed 09/01/20   Page 38 of 63



- 39 - 

a letter demanding a total “amount due” that includes the extrajudicial fees. In the 

letter, Linebarger falsely claimed: “Court records indicate that the Court has 

entered an order against” Ms. Champagne for “unpaid court fees and fines” 

totaling $1,032.13—an amount that includes the $474.70 transportation fee and the 

$15 mittimus fee. See ¶¶ 70–73, above.  

114. Linebarger has a custom or policy of collecting court debt from Iowa 

defendants that no court has ordered them to pay. Due process requires that before 

collecting court debt, Linebarger first verify the debt was in fact ordered by a court 

as required by Iowa law.  

115. Linebarger threatened Ms. Champagne that she could be jailed or lose 

her drivers’ license if she did not pay debts that she did not legally owe, that were 

not enforceable, and that Linebarger had no authority to collect. As a result of 

Linebarger’s false and misleading threats, Ms. Champagne was coerced into 

making payments towards the debts. Linebarger’s letters thereby deprived Ms. 

Champagne of her property without due process. Ms. Champagne also suffered 

mental and emotional distress as a result of Linebarger’s threats. She seeks an 

injunction barring Linebarger from collecting or seeking to collect court debt 

without a court judgment. She is also entitled to compensatory damages and an 

award of attorneys’ fees and costs.  
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CLAIMS FOR RELIEF FOR VIOLATIONS OF 

THE FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT 
 

116. The Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (“FDCPA”), 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1692a et seq., prohibits a debt collector that is collecting debt incurred primarily 

for household or personal use from engaging in certain unfair debt collection 

practices. 

117. Plaintiff Champagne is a “consumer” under the FDCPA because 

Linebarger alleges that she was obligated to pay debt from appointed counsel fees 

relating to cases in Des Moines, Humboldt, and Jasper County District Courts. 15 

U.S.C. § 1692a(3). 

118. Plaintiff Thomas is a “consumer” under the FDCPA because 

Linebarger alleges that he was obligated to pay debt from appointed counsel fees 

relating to a case in Delaware County District Court. 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3). 

119. Linebarger is a “debt collector” under the FDCPA because it uses the 

mails in its business, the principal purpose of which is the collection of debt, and 

because it regularly collects or attempts to collect, directly or indirectly, debt owed 

or due another. 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6). 

120. All debt collectors operating in Iowa that “collect” more than $55,800 

in “consumer debts from Iowans” in a year must file a notification with the 
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Attorney General of Iowa and pay a $50 annual fee.17 The fees paid by debt 

collectors are used to “contribute to the cost of enforcing the Iowa Consumer 

Credit Code.”18 In 2020, Linebarger paid the notification fee.19  

121. The appointed counsel fees that Linebarger alleges each Plaintiff owes 

is a “debt” under the FDCPA because it is an alleged obligation to pay money 

arising out of a transaction that was primarily for personal, family, or household 

purposes. 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(5). 

122. Linebarger’s collection letters are “communication[s]” under the 

FDCPA because Linebarger was conveying information regarding a debt directly 

or indirectly to Champagne and Thomas. 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(2). 

123. Linebarger has violated several provisions of the FDCPA, as detailed 

below. As a result of these violations, Plaintiffs are each entitled to statutory 

damages in an amount up to $1,000.00. 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(a)(2)(A). Plaintiffs are 

also entitled to actual damages under 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(a)(1) and to reasonable 

attorneys’ fees and costs under 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(a)(3). 

 

 
17 Iowa Dept. of Justice, Office of the Attorney General, Debt Collector Notification, at 

https://www.iowaattorneygeneral.gov/for-businesses/debt-collector-notification. 

18 Iowa Attorney General, FAQ for Debt Collectors, at https://www.iowaattorneygeneral.gov/for-

businesses/faq-for-debt-collectors-and-creditorsassignees. 

19 See Iowa Attorney General, 2020 Paid Debt Collectors and Creditors/Assignees 21, at 

https://www.iowaattorneygeneral.gov/media/cms/Formatted_Spreadsheet_3DE52390AE035.pdf 

(last updated June 4, 2020). 
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COUNT 2: 

False representation of character, amount, or legal status of debt 

in violation of FDCPA § 1692e(2)(A) 

(on behalf of Brooke Champagne and Marico Thomas) 
 

124. The FDCPA prohibits a debt collector from “us[ing] any false, 

deceptive, or misleading representation or means in connection with the collection 

of any debt.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692e. Specifically, the Act bars debt collectors from 

falsely representing the character, amount, or legal status of any debt. Id. at 

§ 1692e(2)(A).  

125. Linebarger misrepresented the character and amount of Champagne’s 

and Thomas’s debts when it failed to itemize each of their debts, including the 

appointed counsel fees and collection fees, in the letters.  

126. Linebarger misrepresented the character of Ms. Champagne’s debt 

related to her 2013 Jasper County Case (No. SMAC011891) by stating in letter no. 

40860109 that she owed $363.96 in “unpaid court fines and fees,” when actually 

twenty-five percent of the “amount due” Linebarger claimed she owed consisted of 

Linebarger’s collection fees.  

127. Linebarger misrepresented the character of Ms. Champagne’s debt 

related to her 2015 Humboldt County Case (No. SMCR009978) by stating that she 

owed $1,032.13 in “unpaid court fines and fees,” when actually twenty-five 

percent of the “amount due” Linebarger claimed she owed consisted of 

Linebarger’s collection fees. 
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128. Linebarger misrepresented the character of Ms. Champagne’s debt 

related to her 2016 Des Moines County Case (No. SMSM03870) by stating in 

letter no. 40860109 that she owed $476.55 in “unpaid court fines and fees,” when 

actually twenty-five percent of the “amount due” Linebarger claimed she owed 

consisted of Linebarger’s collection fees. 

129. Linebarger misrepresented the legal status of Mr. Thomas’s debt 

related to his 2016 Delaware County Case (No. SRCR011435), and used false and 

misleading representations in connection with the collection of a debt, when it 

stated in its letters to Mr. Thomas that “the Court has entered an order against you, 

and you have unpaid court fees and fines . . . as listed below,” when, in fact, the 

court had not entered an order against Mr. Thomas for some of the appointed 

counsel fees Linebarger was attempting to collect.  

130. Linebarger also misrepresented the character of Mr. Thomas’s debt by 

stating in the letters that he owed $1,013.96 in “unpaid court fines and fees,” when 

actually twenty-five percent of the “amount due” Linebarger claimed he owed 

consisted of Linebarger’s collection fees. 
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COUNT 3: 

Implying that nonpayment will result in arrest when such action is 

unlawful in violation of FDCPA § 1692e(4) 

(on behalf of Brooke Champagne and Marico Thomas) 
 

131. The FDCPA prohibits a debt collector from implying that nonpayment 

of a debt will result in the arrest or imprisonment of any person unless such action 

is lawful. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(4).  

132. Under Iowa law, contempt proceedings can lead to arrest and 

imprisonment. See Iowa Code § 665.4. Linebarger threatened both Mr. Thomas 

and Ms. Champagne with contempt, which violated FDCPA § 1692e(4) in two 

ways. 

133. First, Linebarger threatened Mr. Thomas with contempt for non-

payment of debt from appointed counsel fees, when contempt proceedings cannot 

lawfully be brought against a person for nonpayment of such fees where, as in Mr. 

Thomas’s case, the debtor was not convicted of the underlying criminal charge.  

134. Most of the debt Linebarger is seeking to collect from Mr. Thomas 

related to his 2016 dismissed assault charge (Case No. SRCR011435) consists of 

appointed counsel fees ($711.84 of the $1,013.98 total). Linebarger’s letters to Mr. 

Thomas state that if he does not pay this debt in full, “Iowa law authorizes . . . 

contempt of court proceedings.” See ¶¶ 94, 100. 

135. In Iowa, contempt proceedings cannot lawfully be brought against a 

person for nonpayment of appointed counsel fees where the debtor was not 
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convicted of the underlying criminal charge. See Iowa Code § 815.9(7) (if counsel 

fees are not paid within the time ordered by the court, a judgment shall be entered 

which “may be enforced by the state in the same manner as a civil judgment”); id. 

§ 626.1 (civil judgments “requiring the payment of money . . . are to be enforced 

by execution”—not contempt); State v. Sluyter, 763 N.W.2d 575, 582 (Iowa 2009) 

(contempt cannot be used to collect court costs from a criminal defendant who was 

not convicted, because the cost judgment entered against him was “part of the fine 

to be imposed as penalty for an offense” and thus “created a civil liability”) 

(quoting LaRue v. Burns, 268 N.W.2d 639, 641 (Iowa 1978)).  

136. Furthermore, the Fourteenth Amendment’s Equal Protection Clause 

prohibits the state—and private companies acting under color of state law—from 

treating criminal defendants who owe attorney fees to the state for appointed 

counsel more harshly than criminal defendants who owe attorney fees to private 

lawyers. James v. Strange, 47 U.S. 128, 138 (1972). An ordinary civil judgment 

debtor cannot be subjected to contempt proceedings, arrested, or imprisoned for 

failure to pay a debt owed to a private attorney.  

137. Linebarger is seeking to collect $711.84 in appointed counsel from 

Mr. Thomas arising from his 2016 assault charge (Case No. SRCR011435), which 

was dismissed by the court. Accordingly, Iowa law does not—and could not—

authorize the use of contempt of court proceedings to collect that debt. Linebarger 
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thus violated FDCPA § 1692e(4) when it stated in the letters sent to Mr. Thomas 

that nonpayment of attorney fees could result in contempt proceedings.   

138. Second, Linebarger threatened both Mr. Thomas and Ms. Champagne 

with contempt without informing them that under Iowa law and the Fourteenth 

Amendment to the Constitution, a court may not lawfully imprison a criminal 

defendant for nonpayment of debt unless the court first determines that the 

defendant had the means to pay but willfully refused. See, e.g., Iowa Code § 909.5 

(a person may be held in contempt for failing to pay court costs only if she “is able 

to pay . . . and . . . refuses to do so”); Bearden v. Georgia, 461 U.S. 660, 672-73 

(1983) (“[D]epriv[ing] [a] probationer of his conditional freedom simply because, 

through no fault of his own, he cannot pay. . . would be contrary to the 

fundamental fairness required by the Fourteenth Amendment.”).  

139. Linebarger’s letters to both Plaintiffs state that nonpayment of their 

appointed counsel fees can result in contempt proceedings—and thus threaten 

arrest and imprisonment—but fail to state that Plaintiffs cannot lawfully be 

imprisoned for nonpayment if they truly cannot afford to pay. Linebarger’s threats 

of contempt thus violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(4).  
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COUNT 4: 

Threatening action that cannot lawfully be taken 

in violation of FDCPA § 1692e(5) 

(on behalf of Brooke Champagne and Marico Thomas) 
 

140. The FDCPA prohibits a debt collector from threatening any action 

that cannot legally be taken. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(5). 

141. Linebarger’s letters to Plaintiffs misrepresent the legal implications 

resulting from Plaintiffs’ nonpayment of the appointed counsel fees in at least three 

ways.  

142. First, by threatening Mr. Thomas with contempt for nonpayment of 

appointed counsel fees accrued on a charge for which he was not convicted (Case 

No. SRCR011435), Linebarger threatened to take action that cannot be legally 

taken in violation of § 1692e(5). As explained above, under Iowa law contempt 

proceedings may not lawfully be used to collect appointed counsel fees from 

defendants who were not convicted. See Count 3, ¶¶ 135–138, above.  

143. Second, by threatening both Plaintiffs with contempt for nonpayment 

of appointed counsel fees without informing them that they could not be held in 

contempt unless a court found their nonpayment was willful—i.e., that they had the 

reasonable ability to pay the debt but refused—Linebarger threatened to take action 

that cannot be legally taken, in violation of § 1692e(5). See Count 3, ¶¶ 138–138, 

above. 
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144. Third, Linebarger’s letters to Plaintiffs state that nonpayment of the 

debt could result in the “revocation” of their driver’s licenses. But under Iowa law, 

the state may not revoke a debtor’s license for nonpayment of court debt. And 

while the state can suspend a debtor’s license for nonpayment, that authority is 

restricted to debt arising from specific driving-related offenses. Iowa Code 

§ 321.210A (“The department shall suspend the driver’s license of a person who, 

upon conviction of violating a law regulating the operation of a motor vehicle, has 

failed to pay the criminal fine or penalty, surcharge, or court costs . . . .”) 

(emphasis added). The state may not suspend a person’s motor vehicle license 

under section 321.210A based on failure to repay court-appointed counsel fees 

ordered as part of restitution. 1989 Iowa Op. Att’y Gen. 34 (1989).  

145. None of the debts Linebarger is seeking to collect from Mr. Thomas 

and Ms. Champagne are related to driving offenses, and some of those debts are 

for appointed counsel fees. Accordingly, Linebarger threatened to take action that 

cannot be legally taken when it stated in the letters sent to Ms. Champagne and Mr. 

Thomas that nonpayment of court debt could result in their licenses being revoked, 

which is generally understood to be and is in fact a harsher sanction than 

suspension. 
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COUNT 5: 

Using false representation or deceptive means to collect or attempt to 

collect any debt in violation of FDCPA § 1692e(10) 

(on behalf of Brooke Champagne and Marico Thomas) 
 

146. The FDCPA prohibits a debt collector from using any false 

representation or deceptive means to collect or attempt to collect any debt. 15 

U.S.C. § 1692e(10). Linebarger violated this provision in several ways. 

147. First, Linebarger used false representations or deceptive means to 

collect or attempt to collect Plaintiffs’ debts when it failed to itemize each of their 

debts, including the appointed counsel fees and collection fees, in the letters.  

148. Second, Linebarger used false representations or deceptive means to 

collect or attempt to collect Plaintiffs’ debts when it stated in the letters that 

Plaintiffs owed the specified amounts in “unpaid court fines and fees,” when 

actually twenty-five percent of the amounts due Linebarger claimed they each 

owed consisted of Linebarger’s collection fees.  

149. Third, Linebarger misrepresented the legal status of Mr. Thomas’s 

debt related to his 2016 Delaware County Case, and used false and misleading 

representations in connection with the collection of a debt, when it stated in its 

letters to Mr. Thomas that “the Court has entered an order against you, and you 

have unpaid court fees and fines . . . as listed below,” when, in fact, the court had 

not entered an order against Mr. Thomas for some of the appointed counsel fees 
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Linebarger was attempting to collect—and, in fact, those fees were contrary to a 

court order. See ¶¶ 92–94, above. 

150. Fourth, Linebarger used false representations and deceptive means to 

collect or attempt to collect Mr. Thomas’s debt when it stated in the letters that 

nonpayment of attorney fees could result in contempt of court proceedings. See 

Count 3, ¶¶ 132–137, above.  

151. Fifth, Linebarger used false representations and deceptive means to 

collect or attempt to collect Plaintiffs’ debts when it stated in the letters that 

nonpayment could result in contempt of court proceedings but failed to disclose 

that contempt cannot be used if Plaintiffs were unable to pay. See Count 3, ¶¶ 138–

138, above. 

152. Sixth, Linebarger used false representations and deceptive means to 

collect or attempt to collect Plaintiffs’ debts when it stated in the letters sent to 

Champagne and Thomas that nonpayment of the debts could result in their licenses 

being revoked. See Count 4, ¶ 142, above. 

COUNT 6: 

Failure to provide required disclosures 

in violation of FDCPA § 1692e(11) 

(on behalf of Brooke Champagne and Marico Thomas) 
 

153. The FDCPA requires a debt collector to disclose in the initial written 

communication with the consumer that the debt collector is attempting to collect a 

debt and that any information obtained will be used for that purpose. 15 U.S.C. 
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§ 1692e(11). If the initial communication with the consumer is oral, the FDCPA 

requires the debt collector to disclose in that initial oral communication that the 

debt collector is attempting to collect a debt and that any information obtained will 

be used for that purpose. Id.   

154. On information and belief, when Linebarger first contacted Ms. 

Champagne and Mr. Thomas, the company failed to disclose that it was attempting 

to collect a debt and that any information obtained would be used for that purpose, 

in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(11). 

155. The FDCPA also requires debt collectors to disclose in all subsequent 

communications with a debtor that the communication is from a debt collector. 15 

U.S.C. § 1692e(11). Linebarger’s collection letters to Plaintiffs did not include that 

mandated notice, in violation of the FDCPA.  

COUNT 7: 

Attempting to collect amounts not expressly permitted by law 

in violation of FDCPA § 1692f(1) 

(on behalf of Marico Thomas) 
 

156. The FDCPA prohibits a debt collector from “us[ing] unfair or 

unconscionable means to collect or attempt to collect any debt,” 15 U.S.C. § 1692f, 

including collecting “any amounts that are not expressly . . . permitted by law. Id. 

at § 1692f(1). Linebarger violated this provision by seeking to collect appointed 

counsel fees from Mr. Thomas that were assessed in violation of a court order. 
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157. When the Delaware County District Court dismissed Case No. 

SRCR011435, the court ruled that Mr. Thomas would not be required to pay more 

than $600 in appointed counsel fees. But despite that order—which is clearly 

visible on the docket—a clerk added appointed counsel charges of $711.18. See 

¶¶ 92–94, above. 

158. The clerk subsequently removed the additional charges in May 2020, 

after being contacted by counsel, but Linebarger had already sent letters seeking to 

collect amounts that included them.   

159. Court debt is enforceable in Iowa only if a court has entered an order 

or judgment requiring the defendant to pay the debt. See Iowa Code 

§ 910.2(1)(a)(2); State v. Gross, 935 N.W.2d 695, 702 (Iowa 2019). Unless it has 

been reduced to a judgment, court debt may not lawfully be collected. State v. 

Davis, 944 N.W.2d at 642. Furthermore, an obligation to reimburse the state for 

appointed counsel fees is only effective if it is ordered by a court. See Iowa Code 

§ 815.9(6) (if the person is acquitted, “the court shall order the payment of all or a 

portion of the total costs and fees incurred for legal assistance, to the extent the 

person is reasonably able to pay, after an inquiry which includes notice and 

reasonable opportunity to be heard”). 

160. The additional counsel fee charges were imposed on Mr. Thomas in 

violation of the court’s order, and therefore were not permitted by Iowa law, which 
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provides that court debt is not valid or enforceable unless ordered by a court. By 

seeking to collect those fees, Linebarger violated FDCPA § 1692f(1).  

161. All of the above described methods of debt collection are unfair or 

unconscionable, in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692f. 

COUNT 8: 

Failure to provide required verification rights notice 

in violation of FDCPA § 1692g(a) 

(on behalf of Brooke Champagne and Marico Thomas) 
 

The FDCPA requires that debt collectors provide debtors with written notice 

of their rights to dispute the validity of the debt: 

Within five days after the initial communication with a consumer in 

connection with the collection of any debt, a debt collector shall, 

unless the following information is contained in the initial 

communication or the consumer has paid the debt, send the consumer 

a written notice containing: 

(1) the amount of the debt; 

(2) the name of the creditor to whom the debt is owed; 

(3) a statement that unless the consumer, within thirty days after 

receipt of the notice, disputes the validity of the debt, or any 

portion thereof, the debt will be assumed to be valid by the debt 

collector; 

(4) a statement that if the consumer notifies the debt collector in 

writing within the thirty-day period that the debt, or any portion 

thereof, is disputed, the debt collector will obtain verification of 

the debt or a copy of a judgment against the consumer and a 

copy of such verification or judgment will be mailed to the 

consumer by the debt collector; and 

(5) a statement that, upon the consumer’s written request within the 

thirty-day period, the debt collector will provide the consumer 
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with the name and address of the original creditor, if different 

from the current creditor.  

15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a). 

162. On information and belief, Linebarger failed to provide these required 

debt verification notices within five days of first contacting Ms. Champagne and 

Mr. Thomas about their rights to dispute the validity of the debts Linebarger was 

seeking to collect, in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a). 

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF FOR VIOLATIONS OF 

THE IOWA DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT  
 

163. The Iowa Debt Collection Practices Act (IDCPA), Iowa Code 

§ 537.7101 et seq., prohibits a debt collector from employing certain unfair debt 

collection practices. 

164. A “consumer credit transaction” includes a “consumer credit sale[.]” 

Iowa Code § 537.1301(12). 

165. A “consumer credit sale” is a sale of goods, services, or an interest in 

land in which all of the following are applicable: 

(1) Credit is granted either pursuant to a seller credit card or by a 

seller who regularly engages as a seller in credit transactions of 

the same kind; 

(2) The buyer is a person other than an organization; 
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(3) The goods, services or interest in land are purchased primarily 

for a personal, family or household purpose; 

(4) Either the debt is payable in installments or a finance charge is 

made; and 

(5) With respect to a sale of goods or services, the amount financed 

does not exceed the threshold amount.  

Iowa Code § 537.1301(13).  

166. A “debt” is defined under Iowa Code § 537.7102(3) as a consumer 

credit transaction, or alternatively includes a transaction that would have been a 

consumer credit transaction but for a lack of a financing charge or being payable in 

installments—i.e., element (4) of a consumer credit sale, above. 

167. A “creditor” is “the person to whom a debtor is obligated, either 

directly or indirectly, on a debt.” Id. at § 537.7102(2). 

168. A “debtor” is defined by the IDCPA as “the person obligated.” Id. at 

§ 537.7102(6). 

169. The State of Iowa is a “creditor,” in that it is the entity to which Ms. 

Champagne and Mr. Thomas are obligated on a debt.  

170. Ms. Champagne and Mr. Thomas are both “debtors,” as they are the 

persons obligated to the state for that debt. 
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171. Each of the transactions at issue is a “debt” for the purposes of the 

IDCPA, because: 

a. Credit was granted by the State of Iowa, which regularly engages 

as in similar credit transactions; 

b. Both Ms. Champagne and Mr. Thomas are persons other than an 

organization; 

c. The services—the payment of appointed counsel fees—were 

primarily for a personal, family or household purpose; 

d. Each of the transactions were under the threshold amounts in 

effect during the period the consumer credit transaction ($50,000-$55,800). 

172. Each of the transactions at issue is or would have been a consumer 

credit transaction if the debt was payable in installments or a finance charge was 

made. 

173. Linebarger is a “debt collector” under Iowa law because it engages, 

directly or indirectly, in debt collection for others. 

174. Linebarger’s debt collection letters involve illegal threats, coercions 

or attempts to coerce, in violation of Iowa Code § 537.7103. As a result of each of 

Linebarger’s violations of the IDCPA, Plaintiffs are each entitled to actual 

damages and statutory damages of $1,000.00. Iowa Code § 537.5201(1)(a). 
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Plaintiffs are also entitled to reasonable attorneys’ fees under Iowa Code 

§ 537.5201(8). 

COUNT 9: 

Attempting to collect a debt by means of a false threat that nonpayment 

may result in arrest in violation of IDCPA § 537.7103(1)(e) 

(on behalf of Brooke Champagne and Marico Thomas) 
 

175. The IDCPA prohibits a debt collector from collecting or attempting to 

collect a debt by means of a “false threat that nonpayment of a debt may result in 

the arrest of a person[.]” Iowa Code § 537.7103(1)(e). 

176. Linebarger violated the IDCPA when it stated in the letters that 

Plaintiffs’ nonpayment of attorney fees could result in contempt of court 

proceedings, which in Iowa can lead to arrest. Specifically, Linebarger threatened 

Mr. Thomas with contempt for nonpayment of appointed counsel fees accrued on a 

charge for which he was not convicted (Case No. SRCR011435) even though, as 

explained above, Iowa law prohibits the use of contempt proceedings to collect 

appointed counsel fees from defendants who were not convicted. See Count 3, ¶¶ 

132–137, above.  

177. In addition, Linebarger’s letters threatened both Plaintiffs with 

contempt if they did not pay appointed counsel fees. As explained above, contempt 

can lead to jail, and a debtor cannot lawfully be jailed for nonpayment unless a 

court finds that her nonpayment was willful. See Count 3, ¶¶ 138–138, above. 
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COUNT 10: 

Attempting to collect a debt by threatening to take an action prohibited by 

law in violation of IDCPA § 537.7103(1)(f) 

(on behalf of Brooke Champagne and Marico Thomas) 
 

178. The IDCPA prohibits a debt collector from collecting or attempting to 

collect a debt by taking an action or threatening to take an action prohibited by 

law. Iowa Code § 537.7103(1)(f). 

179. Linebarger threatened to take action prohibited by law when it stated 

in the letters that Plaintiffs’ nonpayment of attorney fees could result in contempt 

of court proceedings, which in Iowa can lead to arrest and jail.  

180. Specifically, Linebarger threatened Mr. Thomas with contempt for 

nonpayment of appointed counsel fees accrued on a charge for which he was not 

convicted (Case No. SRCR011435) even though, as explained above, Iowa law 

prohibits the use of contempt proceedings to collect appointed counsel fees from 

defendants who were not convicted. See Count 3, ¶¶ 132–137, above.  

181. In addition, Linebarger threatened both Plaintiffs with contempt for 

nonpayment of appointed counsel fees even though, as explained above, Iowa law 

prohibits the jailing of Plaintiffs for nonpayment unless a court has found their 

nonpayment was willful. See Count 3, ¶¶ 138–138, above. 

182. Linebarger threatened to take action that cannot be legally taken when 

it stated in the letter that Plaintiffs’ nonpayment of attorney fees could result in 

their licenses being revoked. As explained above, under Iowa law, the state may 
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only revoke a debtor’s license for nonpayment of debt related to specific driving-

related offenses. None of the debts Linebarger is seeking to collect from Mr. 

Thomas and Ms. Champagne are related to driving offenses. See Count 3, ¶ 142, 

above. 

COUNT 11: 

Attempting to collect a debt through intentional misrepresentation or 

representation which tends to create a false impression of the character, 

extent, or amount of a debt in violation of IDCPA § 537.7103(4)(e) 

(on behalf of Brooke Champagne and Marico Thomas) 
 

183. The IDCPA prohibits a debt collector from collecting or attempting to 

collect a debt by through an intentional misrepresentation, or a representation 

which tends to create a false impression of the character, extent or amount of a 

debt, or of its status in a legal proceeding. Iowa Code § 537.7103(4)(e). Linebarger 

violated this provision in several ways. 

184. First, Linebarger used intentional misrepresentation or a 

representation which tends to create a false impression of the character, extent or 

amount of a debt, or of its status in a legal proceeding, when Linebarger stated in 

the letters that Mr. Thomas’s nonpayment of attorney fees could result in contempt 

of court proceedings, which in Iowa can lead to arrest and jail.  

185. Specifically, Linebarger threatened Mr. Thomas with contempt for 

nonpayment of appointed counsel fees accrued on a charge for which he was not 

convicted (Case No. SRCR011435) even though, as explained above, Iowa law 
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prohibits the use of contempt proceedings to collect appointed counsel fees from 

defendants who were not convicted. See Count 3, ¶¶ 132–137, above.  

186. Second, Linebarger used intentional misrepresentation or a 

representation which tends to create a false impression of the character, extent or 

amount of a debt, or of its status in a legal proceeding, when Linebarger threatened 

both Plaintiffs with contempt for nonpayment of appointed counsel fees even 

though, as explained above, Iowa law prohibits the jailing of Plaintiffs for 

nonpayment unless a court has found their nonpayment was willful. See Count 3, 

¶¶ 138–138, above. 

187. Third, Linebarger used intentional misrepresentation or a 

representation which tends to create a false impression of the character, extent or 

amount of a debt, or of its status in a legal proceeding, when Linebarger stated in 

the letter that Plaintiffs’ nonpayment of attorney fees could result in their licenses 

being revoked. As explained above, under Iowa law, the state may only revoke a 

debtor’s license for nonpayment of debt related to specific driving-related offenses. 

None of the debts Linebarger is seeking to collect from Mr. Thomas and Ms. 

Champagne are related to driving offenses. See Count 4, ¶ 142, above. 

188. Fourth, Linebarger used intentional misrepresentation or a 

representation which tends to create a false impression of the character, extent or 
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amount of a debt when it attempted to collect debt from Mr. Thomas that was not 

ordered by the court. See Count 7, ¶¶ 157–159, above. 

189. Fifth, Linebarger used intentional misrepresentation or a 

representation which tends to create a false impression of the character, extent or 

amount of a debt when it failed to itemize Plaintiffs’ debts in the letters.  

190. Sixth, Linebarger used intentional misrepresentation or a 

representation which tends to create a false impression of the character, extent or 

amount of a debt related to Mr. Thomas’s 2016 Delaware County Case (No. 

SRCR011435), and used false and misleading representations in connection with 

the collection of a debt, when it stated in its letters to Mr. Thomas that “the Court 

has entered an order against you, and you have unpaid court fees and fines . . . as 

listed below,” when, in fact, the court had not entered an order against Mr. Thomas 

for some of the appointed counsel fees Linebarger was attempting to collect.  

191. Seventh, Linebarger also misrepresented the character of Plaintiffs’ 

debts by stating in letters that they owed amount in “unpaid court fines and fees,” 

when actually twenty-five percent of the “amount due” Linebarger claimed was 

owed consisted of Linebarger’s collection fees. See Count 2, ¶¶ 125-127, 129. 
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VI. PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE Plaintiffs pray for relief as follows:  

192. For an award of compensatory damages to Ms. Champagne in an 

amount to be determined at trial under 42 U.S.C. § 1983; 

193. For injunctive relief barring Linebarger from collecting or seeking to 

collect court debt from Ms. Champagne without a court judgment under 42 U.S.C. 

§ 1983. 

194. For an award of actual damages to each Plaintiff in an amount to be 

determined at trial under 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(a)(1) and Iowa Code 

§ 537.5201(1)(a); 

195. For awards of statutory damages to each Plaintiff of $1,000.00 under 

15 U.S.C. § 1692k(a)(2) and $1,000.00 under Iowa Code § 537.5201(1)(a); 

196. For an award of costs of litigation and reasonable attorneys’ fees 

under 28 U.S.C. § 1920, 42 U.S.C. § 1988, 5 U.S.C. § 1692k(a)(3), Iowa Code 

§ 537.5201(8), and any other applicable authority; and 

197. For such other and further relief as may be just and equitable. 

VII. JURY DEMAND 

198. Plaintiff demands a trial by jury on all issues so triable. 
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RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED AND DATED this 1st day of September, 2020. 

BROOKE CHAMPAGNE & MARICO 

THOMAS, Plaintiffs 

 

 

 

 

 

By:                                                                 

Alexander Vincent Kornya 

AT#0009810 

IOWA LEGAL AID 

1111 9th St., Ste. 230 

Des Moines, IA 50310 

T: (515) 243.1193 

F: (515) 244.4618 

akornya@iowalaw.org   

 

Toby J. Marshall 

Brittany J. Glass 

TERRELL MARSHALL LAW  

   GROUP PLLC 

936 North 34th Street, Suite 300 

Seattle, Washington 98103 

T: (206) 816-6603 

F: (206) 319-5450 

tmarshall@terrellmarshall.com  

bglass@terrellmarshall.com 

(Pro Hac Vice applications forthcoming) 

 

Leslie A. Bailey 

PUBLIC JUSTICE, P.C. 

475 14th Street, Suite 610 

Oakland, California 94612 

T: (510) 622-8203 

lbailey@publicjustice.net  

(Pro Hac Vice application forthcoming) 

 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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COURT DEBT COLLECTION CONTRACT 

This Court Debt Collection Contract is dated December 1, 2010, between the 
Iowa judicial Branch (Judicial), a branch of government for the State of Iowa, and 
Linebarger Goggan Blair & Sampson, LLP (Linebarger). The parties agree as follows. 

1. Purpose. 

1.1 The parties are entering into this contract for Linebarger to provide debt 
collection services. 

2. Incorporation of documents. 

2.1 Incorporation of bidding documents. This contract incorporates: 

.A Court Debt Collection Services Provided by Law Firms Request for 
Proposal, RFP No. 2010-10 (RFP); and 

.B Linebarger's proposal in response to the RFP. 

2.2 Resolution of inconsistencies or conflicts in bidding documents. If there 
is any inconsistency or conflict between the specific provisions of this contract, the 
RFP, and Linebarger's response to the RFP, the parties agree that any such 
inconsistency or conflict will be resolved as follows: (1) by giving preference to the 
specific provisions of this contract; (2) by giving preference to specific provisions of 
the RFP; and (3) by giving preference to specific provisions of Linebarger's response 
to the RFP. This contract's failure to refer to specific terms of the RFP or 
Linebarger's response to the RFP does not create a conflict with this contract and 
does not relieve Linebarger of the contractual obligations imposed by the RFP or 
Linebarger's response to the RFP. Terms offered in Linebarger's proposal that 
exceed the RFP's requirements do not create an inconsistency or conflict with the 
request for proposal or this contract. Nor can Linebarger's response to the RFP 
impose or imply any contractual obligations on judicial. 

3. Scope of services. 

Linebarger will perform the services identified in Appendix A, Court Debt Collection 
Contract: Description of Project and Compensation. 
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4. Compensation. 

4.1 Compensation. Judicial will pay Linebarger for work it performs under this 
contract in the amount and in manner described in Appendix A, Court Debt 
Collections Contract: Description of Project and Compensation. 

4.2 Withholding payments. Despite anything to the contrary in this contract, 
judicial may withhold any payment to Linebarger if Linebarger fails to comply with 
this contract, including any problems identified during Judicial's monitoring of 
Linebarger's performance. 

4.3 Payment is no waiver. By making any payments under this contract, Judicial 
does not waive its ability to challenge any reimbursement for failing to comply with 
this contract later. 

5. Initial fee for entering into contract. As permitted by Iowa Code § 
602.8107(5), Linebarger will pay Judicial an initial fee for entering into this contract 
of $15,000. Linebarger will pay the initial fee within 10 calendar days of the date of 
receiving the initial placement of accounts for collection from Judicial under this 
contract. 

6. Control of staff. 

6.1 For purposes of this contract, Linebarger's staff includes all persons 
employed or subcontracted by Linebarger to perform services under this contract. 
All Linebarger staff that performs services under this contract will be under 
Linebarger's direct control and supervision. 

6.2 Linebarger is solely responsible for selecting, hiring, disciplining, firing, and 
compensating its staff. If Judicial believes that any of Linebarger's staff fail to 
perform duties in a manner that is consistent with this contract, Judicial will notify 
Linebarger. Linebarger will then investigate and, if appropriate, discipline, or 
reassign the staff. Judicial lacks any authority to discipline or reassign Linebarger's 
staff, except that Judicial has the authority to demand that a particular staff member 
not be assigned to provide services under this contract. 

6.3 Insurance, benefits, and compensation. Linebarger will provide for and 
pay all employment costs of its staff including, but not limited to, workers' 
compensation, unemployment insurance, health insurance, and other benefits and 
compensation, and will make and remit all payroll withholdings with respect to the 
staff, all as required by law. Judicial will have no liability whatsoever for any of those 
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employment costs. Linebarger must provide Judicial with evidence of the payment 
of compliance with this paragraph when requested by Judicial. 

6.4 Independent contractor. Linebarger is an independent contractor. Judicial 
will not provide Linebarger with any office space, support staff, equipment, or tools. 
Linebarger and its staff are ineligible for any State of Iowa employee benefits, 
including but not limited to, retirement benefits, insurance coverage, and the like. 
Linebarger and its staff are not employees of the State of Iowa or Judicial for federal 
or state tax purposes. Judicial will not withhold taxes on behalf of Linebarger, unless 
required to do so by law. Linebarger is solely responsible for payment of all taxes in 
connection with any income earned from performing this contract. 

7. Term. 

7.1 Initial term. The initial term of this contract is from December 1, 2010, 
through June 30, 2012, unless the contract is terminated earlier in accordance with 
this contract. 

7.2 Renewal terms. The Judicial Branch may renew this contract for three 
additional one-year terms. Thereafter, this contract will continue month-to-month 
until notice is provided under paragraph 8.2. 

8. Termination. 

8.1 Immediate termination by Judicial. Judicial may immediately terminate 
this contract when one or more of the following events occurs: 

.A Linebarger fails to comply with any provision of this contract that 
provides for immediate termination; or 

.B Judicial determines that Linebarger made a statement, representation, 
warranty, or certification that is materially false, deceptive, incorrect, or 
incomplete. 

8.2 Termination on notice by Judicial. Following 30 days' written notice, 
Judicial may terminate this contract in whole or in part for convenience without the 
payment of any penalty or incurring any further obligation to Linebarger. Following 
termination upon notice, Judicial will pay Linebarger, upon submission of invoices 
and proper proof of claim, for services provided under this contract up to and 
including the date of termination. 
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8.3 Termination for cause by Judicial. Judicial may declare Linebarger to be in 
default of its obligations under this contract when any of the following events 
occurs: 

.A Linebarger fails to observe and perform any covenant, condition or 
obligation created by the contract; 

.B Linebarger fails to make substantial and timely progress toward 
performance of the contract; 

.C Linebarger's work product and services fail to conform with the 
requirements of this contract; or 

.D Linebarger's work product or services infringe on any patent, 
trademark, copyright, trade dress or any other intellectual property right. 

8.4 Notice of default. If a default event occurs that Linebarger can cure, Judicial 
must provide written notice to Linebarger requesting that the breach or 
noncompliance be immediately remedied. If the breach or noncompliance continues 
10 days beyond the date of the written notice, Judicial may: 

.A immediately terminate the contract without additional written notice; 
or 

.B enforce the terms and conditions of the contract and seek any legal or 
equitable remedies. 

In either event, Judicial may seek damages due to the breach or failure to comply 
with the terms of the contract. 

8.5 Termination by Judicial due to lack of funds or change in law. Despite 
anything in this contract to the contrary, and subject to the limitations, conditions, 
and procedures set forth below, Judicial may terminate this contract without 
penalty by giving 60 days' written notice to Linebarger if any of the following 
occurs: 

.A the legislature or governor fails to appropriate funds sufficient to allow 
Judicial to operate as required and to fulfill its obligations under this contract; 

.B funds are de-appropriated or not allocated; 

.C the federal government reduces or eliminates the federal grant; 
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.D judicial's authorization to operate is withdrawn or there a material 
alteration in the programs administered by judicial; or 

.E judicial's duties are substantially modified. 

8.6 Linebarger's remedies if judicial terminates the contract due to lack of 
funds or change in law. If judicial terminates this contract due to lack of funds or 
change in law as provided above, Linebarger's exclusive, sole, and complete remedy 
is the payment for services completed prior to and including the date of termination. 

8.7 Linebarger's duties on termination. When Linebarger receives judicial's 
notice of termination for any reason allowed under this contract, Linebarger must: 

.A cease all work under this contract except any work that judicial directs 
Linebarger to perform; 

.B comply with judicial's instructions for the timely transfer of any active 
files and related work product; and 

.C cooperate in good faith with judicial during the transition period 
between the notification of termination and the substitution of any 
replacement contractor. 

8.8 Set off. Should judicial obtain a money judgment against Linebarger because 
of a default under this contract, Linebarger consents to such judgment being set off 
from moneys owed Linebarger by the State of Iowa or any other agency of the State 
of Iowa under any other contract. 

9. Indemnification. 

9.1 Linebarger's indemnification of Judicial. Linebarger must indemnify the 
State of Iowa and judicial from any and all liabilities, damages, settlements, 
judgments, costs and expenses, related to or arising from: 

.A Linebarger's negligent acts or omissions; 

.B Linebarger's performance or attempted performance of this contract; 

.C Linebarger's failure to comply with all local, state and federal laws and 
regulations; or 
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.D Linebarger's failure to make all reports, payments and withholdings 
required by federal and state law with respect to social security, employee 
income and other taxes, fees or costs required by Linebarger to conduct 
business in the State of Iowa. 

9.2 Survives termination. All indemnification obligations imposed by this 
paragraph survive the termination of this contract. 

10. Insurance. 

10.1 Linebarger's insurance requirements. Linebarger must maintain in effect, 
with insurance companies of recognized responsibility, at its expense, insurance 
covering its work of the type and in amounts required by this contract. Linebarger's 
insurance must, among other things, insure against any loss or damage resulting 
from Linebarger's performance of this contract. These insurance policies must 
remain in full force and effect for the entire life of this contract and must not be 
canceled except after 30 days' written notice to Judicial. 

10.2 Amount of insurance required. Unless otherwise requested by Judicial, 
Linebarger must, at its sole cost, cause to be issued and maintained during the entire 
term of this contract not less than the insurance coverages identified below. Each 
insurance policy must name the State of Iowa and Judicial as additional insureds or 
loss payees, as applicable: 

TYPE OF INSURANCE LIMIT AMOUNT 

General Liability (including contractual Combined Single Limit $1Million 
liability) written on an occurrence 
basis Umbrella coverage $1 Million 

Automobile Liability (including any Combined Single Limit $1 Million 
auto, hired autos, and non-owned 
autos) Umbrella $1 Million 

Workers Compensation and Employer As required by Iowa law As required by Iowa law 
Liability 

Professional Liability Insurance Aggregate $ 2 Million 

Per Claim $1 Million 
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10.3 Claims provisions. All insurance policies required by this contract must 
provide coverage for all claims arising from activities occurring during the term of 
the policy regardless of the date the claim is filed or expiration of the policy. 

10.4 Certificates of coverage. Linebarger must submit the certificates of 
insurance described above to Judicial within 30 days after the contract's effective 
date. The certificates must state that the insurer cannot cancel the insurance 
without giving Judicial at least 30 days prior written notice. 

10.5 No limitation ofliability. Judicial's acceptance of the insurance certificates 
does not relieve Linebarger of any obligation imposed by this contract. Only 
companies authorized to transact business in the State of Iowa may issue the 
insurance policies and certificates required by this contract. Linebarger is 
responsible for maintaining the required insurance policies current and without 
lapse in coverage during the term of this contract. 

11. Confidential information. 

11.1 Access to confidential information. When performing its responsibilities 
under this contract, Linebarger and its employees, agents, and subcontractors may 
have access to confidential information. Linebarger must designate one individual 
who will be responsible for all confidential information collected, used, or 
disseminated by Linebarger when performing this contract. Linebarger must also 
supervise and train its employees, agents, and subcontractors to ensure compliance 
with confidentiality requirements. 

11.2 No dissemination of confidential information. Linebarger must not 
disseminate any confidential information collected, maintained, or used when 
performing its obligations under this contract except as authorized by law, this 
contract, or Judicial, either during the term of this contract or thereafter. When the 
contract terminates, Judicial will notify Linebarger to: (1) promptly return to 
Judicial any data collected, maintained, created, provided, or used in the course of 
the performance of the contract, in whatever form it is maintained, or (2) delete or 
destroy that data. 

11.3 Subpoena. !fa subpoena or other legal process is served upon Linebarger for 
records containing confidential information, Linebarger must promptly notify 
Judicial and cooperate with Judicial in any lawful effort to protect the confidential 
information. 

11.4 Reporting of unauthorized disclosure. Linebarger must immediately 
report to Judicial any unauthorized disclosure of confidential information. 
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11.5 Survives termination. Linebarger's obligation to maintain the confidentiality 
of confidential information survives termination of this contract. 

12. Project management and reporting. 

12.1 Project managers. When this contracted is executed, each party will 
designate, in writing, a project manager to serve until the expiration of this contract 
or the designation of a substitute project manager. During the term of this contract, 
each project manager will be available to meet, as mutually agreed, to plan and 
manage the services being provided under this contract. 

12.2 Review meetings. The project managers will meet regularly to discuss 
Linebarger's performance. Each party will provide a status report, as desired by a 
project manager, listing any problems or concerns encountered since the last 
meeting. Each party will maintain records of such reports and other 
communications issued in writing during the course of this contract. 

12.3 Reports. At the next scheduled meeting after which any party has identified 
in writing a problem, the party responsible for resolving the problem must provide 
a report setting forth activities undertaken, or to be undertaken, to resolve the 
problem, together with the anticipated completion dates of such activities. Any 
party may recommend alternative courses of action or changes that will facilitate 
problem resolution. For as long as a problem remains outstanding, written reports 
must identify: 

.A Any event not within the control of Linebarger or judicial that accounts 
for the problem; 

.B Any damages incurred as a result of any party's failure to perform its 
obligations under this contract; and 

.C Any request or demand for services by one party that another party 
believes is not included within the terms of this contract. 

12.4 Project problem reporting requirements. A party's acceptance of a 
problem report does not relieve any party of any obligation imposed by this 
contract. A party's failure to identify a problem does not waive performance of any 
obligation imposed under this contract. Where other provisions of this contract 
require notification of an event in writing, the written report constitutes valid 
notice. 
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12.5 Change Order Procedure. judicial may at any time request a modification to 
the scope of the Statement of Work using a change order. The parties will use the 
following procedures for a change order: 

.A Written Request. judicial will specify in writing the desired 
modifications to the Description of Work. 

.B Linebarger's Response. Linebarger will submit to the judicial Branch 
any proposed modifications to the Description of Work and a firm cost 
proposal, if applicable, for the requested change order within five business 
days of receiving judicial's change order request. 

.C Effect of Change Order. Both parties must sign the change order to 
authorize the change in the Description of Work and to incorporate the 
changes into the Description of Work and this contract. If both parties sign a 
change order, the change order will alter only that portion of the Description 
of Work to which it expressly relates and will not otherwise affect the terms 
and conditions of this contract. 

13. Fiscal procedures. 

13.1 Linebarger's accounting system. Linebarger represents that its accounting 
system is adequate to comply with this contract. 

13.2 Audit exceptions. If an authorized federal or state audit takes exception to 
the services provided under this contract for which federal or state reimbursement 
has been paid, Linebarger must refund the reimbursement ifthe audit exception is 
due to the Linebarger's error. If the audit exception is due solely to the judicial's 
error, the judicial is responsible for the reimbursement. If the audit exception is a 
joint responsibility, the parties will work together to achieve an equitable 
resolution. 

14. Compliance with laws. 

14.1 In general. Linebarger must comply with all applicable federal, state, and 
local laws, rules, ordinances, regulations, and orders when performing services 
under this contract. Linebarger represents that it has complied with all federal, 
state, and local laws regarding any business permits and licenses that may be 
required to carry out the work to be performed under this contract. 

15. Contract administration. 
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15.1 Amendments. No supplement, modification, or amendment of this contract 
will be binding unless it is in writing and signed by both parties. 

15.2 Third parties. This contract has no third party beneficiaries; it benefits only 
Judicial and Linebarger. 

15.3 Assignment and delegation. No party may assign, transfer, or convey in 
whole or in part this contract without the prior written consent of the other party. 
For purposes of this clause, a transfer ofa controlling interest in Linebarger 
constitutes an assignment. 

15.4 Choice of law and forum. Iowa law governs this contract without regard to 
its choice-of-law provisions. Any litigation arising out of or related to this contract 
must be brought in Polk County District Court, Des Moines, Iowa. 

15.5 Representations. Each party represents to the other that: 

.A it has the right, power, and authority to enter into and perform its 
obligations under this contract. 

.B it has taken all requisite action (corporate, statutory, or otherwise) to 
approve the execution, delivery, and performance of this contract. 

.C this contract constitutes a legal, valid, and binding obligation on itself 
in accordance with its terms. 

15.6 Integration. This contract constitutes the entire agreement between the 
parties and none of the parties are relying on any representations that may have 
been made that are not included in this contract. 

15.7 Not a joint venture. Nothing in this contract creates the relationship of a 
partnership, joint venture, or other association of any kind, or agent and principal 
relationship between the parties. Each party is an independent contractor to the 
other contracting for services and acting toward the mutual benefits derived from 
this contract. No party, unless otherwise specifically authorized in this contract, has 
the authority to enter into any contract or create any obligation or liability on behalf 
of, in the name of, or be binding on another party to this contract. 

15.8 Obligations beyond the term of this contract. This contract will remain in 
full force and effect to the end of the specified term or until terminated or canceled 
under this contract. All obligations of the parties incurred or existing under this 
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contract as of the expiration, termination, or cancellation will survive the 
termination or cancellation of this contract. 

15.9 Supersedes former agreements. This contract supersedes all prior 
contracts between Judicial and Linebarger for the services provided under this 
contract. 

15.10 Waiver. No waiver of any term of this contract constitutes a waiver of any 
other provision, whether similar or dissimilar. No waiver of any term constitutes a 
continuing waiver of that term. No waiver is binding unless it signed in writing by 
the waiving party. 

15.11 Notices. Whenever this contract requires a party to send notice or other 
communication to the other party, the notice must be in writing and must be 
delivered personally or sent by certified or registered mail, or by overnight courier, 
postage prepaid, or by e-mail message to the following addresses: 

Judicial: 

Linebarger: 

State Court Administator 
Iowa Judicial Branch Building 
1111 East Court Avenue 
Des Moines, Iowa 50319 

Scott McGlasson, Partner 
Linebarger Goggan Blair & Sampson, LLP 
Scarritt Arcade Building, 
819 Walnut Street, Suite 309 
Kansas City, Missouri 64106 

and to 

Linebarger Goggan Blair & Sampson, LLP 
c/o Client Services Manager 
PO Box 17428 
Austin, TX 78760 

A notice is effective on the day of personal delivery or two days after the date of 
mailing, whichever is earlier. 

15.12 Severability. If any term of this contract is for any reason invalid or 
unenforceable, the rest of the contract remains fully valid and enforceable. 
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15.13 Cumulative rights. The various rights, powers, options, elections, and 
remedies of any party in this contract are cumulative. Not one of them is exclusive of 
the others or exclusive of any rights, remedies, or priorities. Either party may 
pursue any other equitable or legal remedy to which either party may be entitled as 
long as any default remains unremedied, unsatisfied, or undischarged. 

15.14 Time is of the essence. Time is of the essence with respect to the 
performance of the terms of this contract. 

15.15 Successors in interest. This contract binds and inures to the benefit of all 
parties and their successors, assigns, and legal representatives. 

15.16 Record retention and access. Linebarger must maintain books, records, and 
documents that sufficiently and properly document and calculate all charges billed 
to judicial throughout the term of this contract for a period of at least 5 years 
following the date of final payment or completion of any required audit, whichever 
is later. Linebarger must permit the Auditor of the State of Iowa or any authorized 
representative of the State of Iowa and, where federal funds are involved, the 
Comptroller General of the United States or any other authorized representative of 
the United States government, to access and examine, audit, excerpt and transcribe 
any directly pertinent books, documents, papers, electronic or optically stored and 
created records, or other records of Linebarger relating to orders, invoices, or 
payments or any other documentation or materials pertaining to this contract. 
Linebarger must not impose a charge for audit or examination of Linebarger's books 
and records. 

The parties are signing this contract on the date stated in the introductory 
paragraph. 

IOWA JUDICIAL BRANCH 

By: 
David K. Boyd, State Court Administrator 
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Appendix A 

COURT DEBT COLLECTION CONTRACT: 

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROJECT AND COMPENSATION 

1. Technology and data transfer issues. 

1.1 judicial and Linebarger will transfer data related to the Assigned Court Debt 
electronically. 

1.2 Toward that end, judicial staff and Linebarger staff will meet to discuss data 
transfer and technology-related issues. If necessary, judicial staff and Linebarger 
staff will meet as needed to discuss and resolve data transfer and technology-related 
issues. 

1.3 judicial and Linebarger will agree on a plan to facilitate data transfer, 
including developing an implementation plan, pilot implementation, and 
implementation. 

2. Assigned Court Debt. judicial will transfer to Linebarger Assigned Court 
Debt. 

3. Compliance with Iowa Code§ 602.8107. Linebarger agrees that its 
performance of this contract must comply with Iowa Code§ 602.8107 and with any 
changes to that provision that occur during the term of this contract. 

4. Phased transfer of Assigned Court Debt. 

4.1 To comply with the debt amnesty program established in Senate File 2383, 
judicial will assign Court Debt in two phases. 

4.2 In Phase 1, judicial will transfer to Linebarger Court Debt that is between 1 
and 3 1h years old. 

4.3 In Phase 2, after the debt amnesty program ends, judicial will transfer to 
Linebarger Court Debt that is older than 3 1h years old. 

5. Collection activities. 
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5.1 Linebarger will 

.A promptly undertake the collection of all Assigned Court Debt without 
regard to the amounts; 

.B use the most effective and timely methods to resolve and collect all 
Assigned Court Debt; 

.C not allow cases to stall without initiating collection activities, 
performing asset investigation, skip tracing, or initiating legal proceedings on 
an account when Linebarger considers it appropriate. 

5.2 If during the collection of an assigned debt, Linebarger is not satisfied that the 
debtor owes the debt or ifthe debtor disputes the amount owed, judicial will 
attempt to verify promptly the liability and provide that information to Linebarger. 
During this verification period, Linebarger may suspend any active collection 
activity on that account. 

5.3 Linebarger agrees that all of its collection activities will comply with all 
applicable federal, state, and local laws. 

5.4 judicial reserves the right to recall any account included within the Assigned 
Court Debt. If judicial exercises this right, Linebarger agrees to suspend collection 
activity on the recalled account. 

6. Payment of Assigned Court Debt. 

6.1 Linebarger agrees that debtors will make all payments on Assigned Court 
Debt-including payments by credit card, electronic funds transfer, and checks
into specified State of Iowa accounts. 

6.2 judicial will report to Linebarger the amounts it has received on Assigned 
Court Debt. 

7. Representations. 

7.1 Linebarger represents: 

.A that it is a law firm in which all lawyers who will be providing debt 
collection services are authorized, or under supervision of a lawyer 
authorized to practice law in the State of Iowa, and are in good standing; 
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.B that all non-lawyers providing debt collection services will be working 
under the supervision of Iowa-licensed lawyers; 

.C that it has a minimum of five years of debt collection experience; and 

.D that it is qualified to provide debt collection services in all 50 of the 
United States. 

8. Payments to Linebarger. 

8.1 Linebarger agrees that, under Iowa Code§ 602.8107(5)(b), as amended by 
S.F. 2383, it will be paid a collection fee that will be added to the Assigned Court 
Debt. 

8.2 Each month, judicial will pay Linebarger collection fee of 25% on the amount 
of Assigned Court Debt that judicial actually received during the prior month. 

8.3 Linebarger agrees that its compensation is limited to the collection fee and 
that judicial does not owe Linebarger any other compensation for any of the 
services provided under this contract. 

8.4 Linebarger understands and agrees that judicial cannot reimburse Linebarger 
for court costs, if any. Nevertheless, because Linebarger is trying to collect on debts 
owed to the State of Iowa, judicial will waive any filing fees for collection activities 
filed in Iowa courts, as permitted by Iowa Code§ 70A.5, since the fees would be 
payable by the State of Iowa. Linebarger should therefore notify the clerk that a 
collection action is being pursued on the behalf of the State of Iowa and, as a result, 
no filing fee is required under Iowa Code § 70A.5. 

9. Definitions. 

9.1 "Assigned Court Debt" means Court Debt that has been delinquent for one or 
more years and: (a) is not being collected by county attorneys, (b) is not subject to 
an existing payment plan, and ( c) does not arise from confidential cases. In addition, 
Assigned Court Debt may include other Court Debt that judicial assigns to 
Linebarger that arises from changes in law or judicial policy. 

9.2 "Court Debt" means all fines, penalties, court costs, fees, forfeited bail, and any 
other debt as defined in Iowa Code§ 602.8107(1). 
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IN THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR HUMBOLDT COUNTY 

Magistrate Division 

STATE OF IOWA,       Criminal No. SMCR009978 

 Plaintiff 

 

v.         JUDGMENT & SENTENCE 

 

BROOKE LEANN CHAMPAGNE,  

 Defendant. 

 

The above-entitled matter comes before the Court for Sentencing. The Defendant appears by 

Attorney Daniel Feistner. The State is represented by Jonathan Beaty, Humboldt County Attorney. 

 

The Defendant, having pled/been found guilty on COUNT I: Violation of Protective Order, knows of no 

legal reason why Judgment should not now be entered and none appears upon the record. 

 

IT IS THE JUDGMENT AND SENTENCE OF THIS COURT that the Defendant is convicted of the 

crime of Violation of Protective Order,  in violation of Section(s) 664A.7(5) Iowa Code. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, for the protection of society, the rehabilitation of the Defendant, and the 

further reasons stated by the Court on the record, as follows: 

 

1. JAIL: The Defendant is hereby sentenced to serve a period of forty-eight (48) hours in the Humboldt 

County Jail. The Defendant shall be given credit for time served. Defendant shall serve the 

unsuspended portion of the sentence within sixty (60) days of this judgment. 

 

2. FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS: 

a. The Defendant shall NOT be fined in this case. 

b. Defendant shall pay court appointed attorney fees. The Defendant waived any hearing on her ability 

to pay attorney fees in this matter. 

c. Restitution shall remain open for thirty (30) days. 

d. The Defendant shall pay Court Costs. 

 

3. PROBATION:  The Defendant is placed on probation to the Humboldt County Sheriff or his 

designee for a period of 1 year. Contact number for the Humboldt County Sheriff’s Office is 515-

332-2471. The Defendant shall contact the probation department within 72 hours of the filing of this 

Judgment. The Defendant shall have no violations of the law for one year. 

 

4. COMPANION CHARGES: Case Number SMCR009978-Count II (disorderly conduct) is 

DISMISSED with costs to the State of Iowa. 

 

Any currently set hearings in this matter are hereby cancelled. 
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State of Iowa Courts

Type: ORDER FOR DISPOSITION

Case Number Case Title
SMCR009978 ST OF IA VS BROOKE LEANN CHAMPAGNE

So Ordered

Electronically signed on 2015-10-12 15:00:16     page 2 of 2
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT FOR HUMBOLDT COUNTY 

Magistrate Division 

 

STATE OF IOWA, 

Plaintiff, 

 

vs. 

 

BROOKE LEANN CHAMPAGNE, 

Defendant. 

 Criminal No.SMCR009978   

 

ORDER ISSUING MITTIMUS 
 

 

  
 The undersigned having been presented an Application for Mittimus stating that the 
Defendant failed to satisfy the sentence imposed by the Court.   
 
 IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that the Clerk shall issue a warrant for the 
Defendant’s arrest.  Once the Defendant is apprehended, the Defendant shall serve any time 
remaining on the Defendant’s mittimus, and shall pay the Humboldt County Jail’s room and 
board cost of $50.00 per day.  
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State of Iowa Courts

Type: ORDER TO ISSUE WARRANT

Case Number Case Title
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So Ordered
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IN THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR HUMBOLDT COUNTY

 
STATE OF IOWA,
 
           PLAINTIFF,
 
        vs.
 
 BROOK LEANN CHAMPAGNE ,
 
           DEFENDANT.
 

 
 

Case No: 02461  SMCR009978
 

ORDER APPROVING
ROOM AND BOARD

 

 

This case comes before the Court on the claim filed by the HUMBOLDT County Sheriff for room and

board reimbursement pursuant to Iowa Code Sections 356.7 and 910.2.  After review of the file, the

Court finds that the claim should be approved.

 

THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED THAT the Room and Board Reimbursement Claim filed by the

HUMBOLDT County Sheriff is approved.  The Sheriff is entitled to judgment against Defendant in the

amount of $50.00, representing the cost of his/her room and board at the county jail while serving the

sentence imposed in this case.  The clerk is directed to enter judgment accordingly.

            

 

CLERK TO FURNISH COPIES TO:

Sheriff

Defendant

1 of 2
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State of Iowa Courts
Case Number Case Title
SMCR009978 ST OF IA VS BROOKE LEANN CHAMPAGNE
Type: OTHER ORDER

So Ordered

Electronically signed on 2016-02-24 14:44:23
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IN THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT IN AND FOR DES MOINES COUNTY
STATE OF IOWA,
            Plaintiff,
 
     vs.
 
BROOKE LEANN CHAMPAGNE ,
            Defendant.
Defendant's Correct Address: 1824 Highland Ave.,
Burlington, Iowa

 
 
 

08291  SMSM038780 
 
 

SENTENCE
(Simple Misdemeanors)

 
 

 
The defendant appears in person with attorney Shane Wiley and waives his/her right to trial and
pleads GUILTY to the following simple misdemeanor:
Theft in the Fifth Degree, Sec 714.2(5)
A $125.00 law enforcement surcharge is assessed to any theft, trespass, or criminal mischief conviction.
 
IT IS THE JUDGMENT AND SENTENCE OF THE COURT THAT:
The Defendant is fined $65.00 plus applicable surcharge and court costs.
The Defendant shall pay court costs.
The Defendant shall pay a L.E.I.S. surcharge in the amount of $125.00
 
The financial obligations are due immediately.
 
The Defendant is confined in the DES MOINES County Jail for 30 days and given credit for time
served.
The jail time is suspended with the exception of 5 days.
The jail time is suspended for one year conditioned on the Defendant's probation to the Court, said
terms of probation shall include obey all local, state, and federal laws; obey all Orders of the Court;
and payment of the financial obligations as set forth in this Order.
 
Defendant is approved for work release, as approved by the Des Moines County Correctional Center.
 
 
An appeal would need to be filed within ten days of the entry of this judgment.  Appeal bond is set in
the amount of $500.00.
 
 
If the Defendant was represented by court-appointed counsel, the Defendant must pay restitution for
attorney's fees pursuant to Iowa Code Section 815.9.
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Note:  Attorney fees and other costs, if unavailable at the time of sentence, may be more than the
record reflects in the Clerk's office.  Those amounts will be added to the Defendant's total amount
of court debt when they become available and are subject to the same terms as specified below. 
Sheriff room and board fees will be charged as a civil judgment for which the Defendant is separately
responsible.
  The Defendant is notified that if he or she fails to pay any monthly payment on the date and in
the amount as set forth, action regarding Defendant's motor vehicle registration or suspension of
Defendant's driver's license, or both, may be initiated.  In addition, the total remaining court debt
will be considered delinquent and sent to collection, and up to 25% may be added to the delinquent
amount.  This shall not affect Department of Transportation enforcement.
  The installment payment plan does not affect the State of Iowa's procedure to intercept any state
income tax refund or any vendor amounts due Defendant, or the Clerk of Court's ability to intercept
monetary amounts held by the Clerk of Court and payable to Defendant.
 
The following items of clothing are not appropriate for court proceedings:  hats, shorts, halter
tops, tube tops, shirts with inappropriate printing or clothing that is overly dirty or ragged.
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State of Iowa Courts
Case Number Case Title
SMSM038780 STATE OF IOWA VS CHAMPAGNE, BROOK L
Type: ORDER OF DISPOSITION

So Ordered

Electronically signed on 2016-02-19 09:10:34
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IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR DELAWARE COUNTY
 
STATE OF IOWA,
                                      Plaintiff,
 
vs
 
MARICO CORTEZ THOMAS  
                                      Defendant. 
 

 
           

Case No:  01281  SMCR011436 
 

ORDER OF DISMISSAL
Count II and III 

 
    Upon oral application of the County Attorney or pursuant to plea negotiations, and in the interest of
justice,
 
IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that the above-entitled
action is hereby dismissed at defendant's cost.
 
 
    Payment shall be as follows:
 
BAIL:  Defendant's bail is exonerated and shall be returned to the party posting same subject to the
Clerk's statutory offset. 
901C.1 Notice:  The Defendant is hereby advised that pursuant to Iowa Code Section 901C.1 the
above-entitled matter may be eligible for expungement under certain circumstances following the
completion of conditions set forth in Iowa Code Section 901C.1(2).  Expungement is not available for
nonindictable offenses under either chapter 321 or local traffic ordinances.
 
Dated: 02/01/17
Please Note:  If you require assistance of auxiliary aids or services to participate in court because of a disability,
immediately call your district ADA coordinator at 319/833-3332.  If you are hearing impaired, call Relay Iowa TTY at
1-800-735-2942.  The disability coordinator cannot provide legal advice.
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State of Iowa Courts
Case Number Case Title
SMCR011436 STATE OF IOWA VS THOMAS, MARICO C
Type: DISMISSED PER COURT

So Ordered

Electronically signed on 2017-02-01 14:50:16
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IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR DELAWARE COUNTY
 
 
STATE OF IOWA,
                                      Plaintiff,
 
vs
 
MARICO CORTEZ THOMAS  
116 W HOWARD ST
MANCHESTER IA 52057
 

DOB: 09/02/1983 
                                      Defendant. 
 

 
           

Case No:  01281  SMCR011436 
 
 

JUDGMENT AND
SENTENCE

Count I

 
    The Defendant entered a guilty plea in the above-entitled matter.  The Court finds no reason that
judgment cannot be pronounced. 
    IT IS HEREBY ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that the Defendant is guilty of the offense of:
DISORDERLY CONDUCT, 723.4(1).  The offense was committed on August 4, 2016.
 
    It is the sentence of the Court under that section and Section 903.1 as follows:
 
1. Incarceration:
    The Defendant is to be incarcerated in the DELAWARE County Jail for a period of  30 day(s).
Concerning said sentence:
It is suspended except for 1 days.
The Defendant is credited with  1 day previously served on the sentence imposed.
 
2.    Fine and Restitution. 
Pursuant to Iowa Code Section 910.2, and finding that the defendant is reasonably able to pay, the
defendant shall pay and judgment is imposed against the defendant as follows:
Pecuniary damages (known at this time) to the victim(s) as follows: if requested with the exception
of victim Adam Verbeck If no pecuniary statement of damages is available, or only a partial statement
is available at sentencing, the County Attorney shall provide a statement no later than thirty (30) days
after sentencing.
Court costs in the amount of $180.00 . (Amount known now) (Clerk will assess any additional)
Sheriff Correctional fees pursuant to Iowa Code Section 356.7.
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Court-appointed attorney's fees in the amount of $300, plus attorney expenses, or the amount
actually submitted to the State Public Defender's Office, whichever is the less.  The Court hereby
finds that the Defendant has the reasonable ability to pay the attorney fees in this amount.
 
The amount due will be available after this order is processed by the Clerk of Court at
https://www.iowacourts.state.ia.us/ESAWebApp/DefaultFrame?in=1 or at www.iowacourts.gov
by following the links for Online Court Records.  The Defendant is hereby put on notice
that court costs are often submitted and assessed after sentencing and the Defendant is
responsible for payment of these costs as set forth below.
 
Plan of Payment:
If the judgment is not paid on the date of sentencing, then it shall be paid in installments of $50 per
month starting March 3, 2017 until paid in full.
 
3. PROBATION AND/OR OTHER SENTENCING PROVISIONS.
 
Probation period: Defendant is placed on probation for a period of 12 months.
Informal probation: Defendant is placed on probation to the Court with no monitoring requirement.
Reporting requirement: Defendant must report any new arrest/citation (other than minor traffic) to
the court in writing, within 7 days of arrest/citation.
 
The Defendant is advised that this is a final judgment of the Court and that the Defendant has
a right to take an appeal.  Written Notice of Appeal must be given to the Clerk of Court within
10 days of this judgment.  Failure to give this Notice of Appeal will result in the Defendant
losing the right to appeal.  Bond on appeal is set in the amount of $1000 cash or surety.
Defendant's appearance bond, if any, is ordered released and sureties exonerated, subject to
clerk's offset.
 
Dated: 02/01/17
Please Note:  If you require assistance of auxiliary aids or services to participate in court because of a disability,
immediately call your district ADA coordinator at 319/833-3332.  If you are hearing impaired, call Relay Iowa TTY at
1-800-735-2942.  The disability coordinator cannot provide legal advice.
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State of Iowa Courts
Case Number Case Title
SMCR011436 STATE OF IOWA VS THOMAS, MARICO C
Type: OTHER ORDER

So Ordered

Electronically signed on 2017-02-01 16:06:36

3 of 3

E-FILED  2017 FEB 01 4:06 PM DELAWARE - CLERK OF DISTRICT COURT
Case 4:20-cv-00275-SMR-SBJ   Document 1-25   Filed 09/01/20   Page 4 of 4



— EXHIBIT 25 —

Case 4:20-cv-00275-SMR-SBJ   Document 1-26   Filed 09/01/20   Page 1 of 4



E-FILED  2017 FEB 01 9:09 AM DELAWARE - CLERK OF DISTRICT COURT
Case 4:20-cv-00275-SMR-SBJ   Document 1-26   Filed 09/01/20   Page 2 of 4



E-FILED  2017 FEB 01 9:09 AM DELAWARE - CLERK OF DISTRICT COURT
Case 4:20-cv-00275-SMR-SBJ   Document 1-26   Filed 09/01/20   Page 3 of 4



E-FILED  2017 FEB 01 9:09 AM DELAWARE - CLERK OF DISTRICT COURT
Case 4:20-cv-00275-SMR-SBJ   Document 1-26   Filed 09/01/20   Page 4 of 4



— EXHIBIT 26 —

Case 4:20-cv-00275-SMR-SBJ   Document 1-27   Filed 09/01/20   Page 1 of 3



IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR DELAWARE COUNTY
 
STATE OF IOWA,
                                      Plaintiff,
 
vs
 
MARICO CORTEZ THOMAS  
                                      Defendant. 
 

 
           

Case No:  01281  SRCR011435 
 

ORDER OF DISMISSAL

 
    Upon oral application of the County Attorney or pursuant to plea negotiations, and in the interest of
justice,
 
IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that the above-entitled
action is hereby dismissed at defendant's cost.
 
Court-appointed attorney's fees:  The Defendant shall make restitution for court-appointed attorney
fees in the amount of $600 or the amount actually submitted by the State Public Defender's office,
whichever is less.  The court costs and attorney fee restitution shall be paid as set forth below.  The
Defendant may request a hearing concerning the defendant's reasonable ability to pay attorney fees.
 
    Payment shall be as follows:
   Costs shall be included in payment plan for Case No. SMCR011436. In addition, defendant shall
pay any victim restitution requested herein, with the exception of victim Adam Verbeck. Defendant
may request to be heard on any restitution amount ordered.
 
BAIL:  Defendant's bail is exonerated and shall be returned to the party posting same subject to the
Clerk's statutory offset. 
901C.1 Notice:  The Defendant is hereby advised that pursuant to Iowa Code Section 901C.1 the
above-entitled matter may be eligible for expungement under certain circumstances following the
completion of conditions set forth in Iowa Code Section 901C.1(2).  Expungement is not available for
nonindictable offenses under either chapter 321 or local traffic ordinances.
 
Dated: 02/01/17
Please Note:  If you require assistance of auxiliary aids or services to participate in court because of a disability,
immediately call your district ADA coordinator at 319/833-3332.  If you are hearing impaired, call Relay Iowa TTY at
1-800-735-2942.  The disability coordinator cannot provide legal advice.
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State of Iowa Courts
Case Number Case Title
SRCR011435 STATE OF IOWA VS THOMAS, MARICO C
Type: DISMISSED PER COURT

So Ordered

Electronically signed on 2017-02-01 14:48:53
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Clerk of Court Report for Adult Claims for DELAWARE County

Period: 01/01/2017 - 04/01/2017

Court Number Attorney Fee Expense Total Client Name Section / Type Service Date
Attorney /

Claimant Name
SPD Claim

AGCR011063 $186.00 $19.20 COMSTOCK, JAMIE 321.561; 02/17/2017 GONZALES 1192028

AGCR011272 $240.00 $27.46 ANDREWS, BRENEE 665.4; 01/04/2017 BAUMGARTNE
R

1180124

AGCR011399 $474.00 $22.68 WELLS, DESTINI 124.407 (SR);124.401(5)
(SR);726.6(7);

01/18/2017 SWIFT 1185345

AGCR011652
FECR011661

$318.00 $5.85 FOX, MORGAN 124.401(1)(D);124.407
(SR);453B.12;124.401(5)

(SR);124.402(1)(E);726.6(7);

02/09/2017 LANGE 1194554

FECR010642 $294.00 $5.26 WELSH, DAMAIN 908.11; 01/19/2017 BAUMGARTNE
R

1184242

FECR010664 $636.00 $67.60 KREUTNER, RAY 124B.9; 11/17/2016 GONZALES 1179039

FECR010991 $810.00 $48.75 HANAWAY, EMILIE 124.401(1)(C); 02/07/2017 LANGE 1193506

FECR011186 $1,014.00 $70.20 GEISLER, KYLE 124.401(1)(C);124.407
(D);155A.21;726.6(3);124.401(5)

(D);

01/03/2017 HOOVER 1187056

FECR011248 $834.00 $158.37 HEINRICHS, DUSTIN 124.401(4); 01/18/2017 GONZALES 1187551

FECR011307 $306.00 $41.28 HELMRICHS, MICHAEL 123.91(2);713.5;902.8;123.46; 11/17/2016 GONZALES 1179040

FECR011401 $798.00 $58.80 WELSH, DAMAIN 124.401(1)(D);124.407 (D);726.
6(7);

01/19/2017 BAUMGARTNE
R

1184239

PCCV008068 $726.00 $5.27 KINNEY, LUCAS 822.2(1)(A); 01/09/2017 PETERS 1183277

SMCR011306 $108.00 $11.50 HEINRICHS, DUSTIN 708.7(4); 01/18/2017 GONZALES 1187546

SMCR011505 $102.00 $11.70 WRATH, JEREMIAH 714.2(5); 12/20/2016 LANGE 1175031

SMCR011526 $300.00 $16.43 HOUSTON, CHARLES 664A.7; 02/20/2017 GONZALES 1192029

SMCR011538 $78.00 $0.00 EIMER, MARTIA 714.2(5); 11/21/2016 LANGE 1175048

SMCR011584 $186.00 $15.66 JONES, TYRONE 723.4; 02/27/2017 GONZALES 1193305

SMCR011586 $270.00 $17.43 DAVIS, SEQUILA 321J.2(2)(A); 01/30/2017 SWIFT 1186653

SMCR011601 $96.00 $11.70 ROUNDS, TIFFANY 708.2(6); 02/06/2017 LANGE 1191657

SMCR011611;
SMCR011612

$372.00 $25.87 RODRIGUEZ, YOLANDA 299.6;714.13; 02/06/2017 SWIFT 1188814

SMCR011678 $72.00 $0.00 HEIMS, ANDREW 714.2(5); 02/15/2017 LANGE 1194916

SMCR011686 $180.00 $5.79 DAVIS, SEQUILA 714.2(5); 02/27/2017 SWIFT 1192867

SRCR011294;
SMCR011293

$132.00 $5.79 HEINRICHS, DUSTIN 716.6 (SR);716.6 (SM); 01/18/2017 GONZALES 1187547

SRCR011435 $708.00 $27.18 THOMAS, MARICO 708.2(2); 02/15/2017 SWIFT 1191111

Send your questions about the weekly Clerk Report to arandleman@spd.state.ia.us and questions about a Contract Attorney to claims@spd.state.ia.us.

** Modified Claim - Updates added after previous completion (Duplicate)
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Clerk of Court Report for Adult Claims for DELAWARE County

Period: 01/01/2017 - 04/01/2017

Court Number Attorney Fee Expense Total Client Name Section / Type Service Date
Attorney /

Claimant Name
SPD Claim

SMCR011436
 SWI T

SRCR011480;
SMCR011481

$612.00 $27.50 STARNES, DANIEL 708.2(2); 02/22/2017 SWIFT 1192866

Send your questions about the weekly Clerk Report to arandleman@spd.state.ia.us and questions about a Contract Attorney to claims@spd.state.ia.us.

** Modified Claim - Updates added after previous completion (Duplicate)
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